# "I Hope We Can Talk About Sustainability One Day Because That Would Mean All of Our Other Problems Are Gone"

Study Among Turkish Urban Youth on Environmental Awareness, Environmental Concern and Pro-environmental Behavior

#### Degree of Master of Science (Two Years) in Human Ecology: Culture, Power and Sustainability (30 ECTS)

Author: Yasemin Jasmijn Gültuna

Supervisor: Annika Pissin Term: Spring Term 2024

CPS: International Master's Program in Human Ecology
Human Ecology Division
Department of Human Geography
Faculty of Social Sciences
Lund University

Department:	Department of Human Geography
Address:	Geocentrum I, Sölvegatan 10, 223 62 Lund, Sweden
Telephone:	+46 46 222 17 59

Supervisor:	Annika Pissin

Title	and	"I hope we can talk about sustainability one day because
Subtitle:		that would mean all of our other problems are gone" Study
		Among Turkish Urban Youth on Environmental Awareness,
		Environmental Concern and Pro-environmental Behavior
Author:		Yasemin Jasmijn Gültuna
Examination	:	Master's Thesis (two years)

Term:	Spring Term 2024

#### Abstract:

Awareness and concern about environmental issues are rising globally, but research shows that increased awareness and concern does not necessarily lead to pro-environmental behavior. Cross-national studies found that countries' economic and political context play an important role in the dynamic between awareness, concern and action. This research focuses on how environmental awareness, environmental concern and pro-environmental behavior are connected in the daily lives of Turkish urban youth. With its economic crisis and an increasingly authoritarian government, Türkiye provides an interesting context for

analysis. Through in-depth interviews, this study builds upon the experiences of young people in Türkiye. The study shows that participants are aware of, and concerned about environmental problems, mainly at a local level and some participants try to take sustainable actions through conscious consumerism and natural resource use. For most participants, however, environmental issues are not a priority. The political and economic struggles are prioritized in their daily lives. Participants expressed that they feel overwhelmed by the vastness of environmental issues, and unable to contribute on an individual level.

**Keywords:** Turkish Urban Youth, Environmental Awareness, Environmental Concern, Pro-environmental Behavior, Postmaterialism, Quality of Government

## Table of Contents

A Word of Gratitude	4
Setting the Scene	5
Youth and Pro-environmental Behavior	9
The Dynamics of Environmental Awareness, Concern and Pro-environmental Behavior	vior
 	. 11
Economic Prosperity and Post-materialism	. 13
Quality of Government and Trust in Government	. 15
Environmental Politics in Türkiye - An Overview	. 17
Environmental Politics under Erdoğan's Power	. 18
The Conduct of This Study	. 23
Participants' Environmental Awareness and Concern	. 27
Environmental Education	. 31
The Role of Religion	. 34
Participants' Pro-environmental Behavior	. 36
Environmental Inaction	. 37
Economic Challenges	. 40
Political Challenges	. 42
Environmental Activism	. 45
Türkiye versus the West	. 49
Frustration, Fear, Love and Care	. 52
Ribliography	55

#### A Word of Gratitude

It has been five years since I visited Türkiye for the last time. Türkiye, the country where my father grew up, the country where my roots lie. Even though I don't speak the language, I feel a strong connection to this place. My father accompanied me on this trip, and while I was doing interviews, he had time to catch up with old friends. As the traffic can be cruel in Ankara, we spent lots of time together in traffic jams and thus we had lots of time to talk. We talked about how it was for him to grow up in Ankara, and about how the city has changed so much since he left. We visited places that were full of memories for my father, and we met with friends and family. I feel very grateful to have shared this time with him. Sometimes I felt naive, as I learned that most people I talked to had such different priorities and worries and this experience has helped me to gain not only valuable insights for my research, but it also helped me to connect more to Türkiye on a personal level.

I want to thank all participants for their time, trust and valuable insights. Their contribution has formed the core of this thesis. I also want to thank Mustafa and Yaz for their tremendous help during my fieldwork period in Ankara. Without them I would have been lost in the concrete jungle of Ankara! I also want to give thanks to Annika, my supervisor, for her time, insights and positive attitudes. Our meetings were always very fun, and she always took the time for me. Lastly, I want to thank my classmates for their motivation and inspiration, for the study sessions at Sambib and communal lunches at the microwave-hut. It feels wonderful to be part of a community of like-minded students who help you grow as a student and as a person!

## Setting the Scene

Climate change and environmental degradation are becoming increasingly pressing issues. The effects hereof are visible in all parts of the world, and range from floods, droughts and pollution to species loss. The United Nations Environmental Programme has defined three root issues regarding the environment: climate change, nature and biodiversity loss, and pollution (UNEP 2024). As a response, sustainability has become a prominent part of the political agenda, both at national and international levels. But engagement with environmental topics is not limited to the political sphere. Civic engagement with environmental issues has played an important role in environmental debates, and the role young people play in this process has gained considerable attention.

Environmental awareness and concern are rising globally, yet researchers find a disconnect between environmental awareness, concern and pro-environmental behavior. This is an alarming finding, as pro-environmental behavior of individuals is an important step towards a more sustainable future. Individual characteristics such as age, gender and political stance have been analyzed to explain why certain people are less likely to translate their environmental awareness and concerns into action (Gifford and Nilsson 2014). Boulianne and Ohme (2022: 771) show that there is a correlation between age and environmental awareness and concern, meaning that younger people are more likely to be aware of and concerned about environmental issues than older people. The global rise in youth-led environmental campaigns and actions exemplify this result. Similarly, research shows that environmental issues have become one of the top concerns among young people globally (Henn et al. 2022).

Since the 1990s, the interest in youth participation in societal debates has increased, because both researchers and politicians started to acknowledge the value of young citizens' perspectives on local and global issues (Pincock et al. 2024: 2). They argue that young people can play a pivotal role in creating a more just and sustainable future (ibid.).

Besides individual characteristics it is also important to look at the societal context in which people shape their environmental awareness, concerns and actions. This thesis will build upon cross-national research on the role of societal contexts on environmental awareness, concern and pro-environmental behavior. The focus will be specifically on Turkish urban youth. The majority of young people globally live in urban areas, and this is also the case for Türkiye (Buttigieg and Pace 2013: 29; Erdogan and Uyan-Semerci 2020: 17). It is therefore valuable to integrate perspectives of urban youth on environmental challenges.

Looking at Türkiye, the country currently faces an economic crisis and has a complex political climate, since Erdoğan came into power in 2002 and has increasingly taken on an authoritarian approach. The country's economic and political context, therefore provides a relevant point of analysis. Besides, Türkiye scores very poorly on international sustainable indexes, and it is argued that this trend is getting worse over time (Arsel and Adaman 2022: 60). Türkiye is the 15th largest carbon emitter of the world and ranks almost last in the global index for habitat and biodiversity protection (Demir 2022: 143). The Turkish economy is highly dependent on fossil fuels, particularly coal, which is a main driver for its environmental mal performance. Environmentalism is a highly politicized topic in Türkiye, and despite strong environmental laws, the country enforces unsustainable practices and faces many environmental challenges, such as habitat and biodiversity loss, deforestation and severe air, soil and water pollution (Paker 2020).

Türkiye's dire environmental situation has become of growing interest among researchers. The focus of these studies lay mainly on Erdoğan's right-wing populist, authoritarian and neoliberal governance approach and policies and the effects hereof on the environment and environmental activism in Türkiye (Akbulut and Adaman 2013; Arsel and Adaman 2022; Kurtiç 2022; Özen 2022; Paker 2020; Turhana and Gündoğan 2017). Studies on environmental awareness and concern among Turkish citizens, in particular Turkish youth, is limited however, and mainly based on statistical analyses (Harris 2014). These studies focus on environmental awareness and concerns among Turkish people, but not if and how these are translated into action. The aim of this thesis is to get a better understanding of the

environmental awareness, environmental concerns and pro-environmental behavior of young people in Türkiye, while taking into account their local political and economic context. Türkiye's cultural and geographical background is based on a constant limbo between East and West, religion and secularism and strong national sentiments as well as cultural diversity (Harris 2014), which provides an interesting context for analysis.

By focusing on awareness, concerns and pro-environmental behavior, I will not only study how young people *think* about environmental issues, but also if and how they *respond* to these issues. Although different definitions of these terms exist, I will refer to environmental awareness as having adequate knowledge on environmental issues (Szagun and Pavlov 1995: 93), and environmental concern as acknowledging the seriousness of the problem and the emotional response to this (Takács-Santa 2007: 27). Emotions that are particularly associated with environmental concern are fear, worry, sadness and frustration (ibid.). Proenvironmental behavior can be defined as a conscious effort to minimize one's negative impact on the natural world (Kollmuss and Agyeman 2002: 240).

This research will center around the following research question: **How do environmental awareness, environmental concern and pro-environmental behavior connect and play out in the daily lives of Turkish urban youth?** Through interviews with young Turkish citizens, I analyze young peoples' environmental awareness and concerns and the underlying structures that influence their actions. Insights of Turkish urban youth are of great value for policymakers and NGOs, not only to understand their behavior but also to address environmental topics in a way that aligns more with youth perceptions and concern (Kleinberg and Toomey 2023: 367; Nash et al. 2019: 2).

First, I will explore the topic of environmental behavior among young people and the I will look further into the gap between environmental awareness, environmental concern and pro-environmental behavior. The theoretical background will center around economic and political factors that can impact how people translate their environmental awareness and concern into action. The focus will be on economic prosperity and Inglehart's (1971) postmaterialist values, and

'Quality of Government' and people's trust in their government. To provide context for my research, I will give a brief historical overview of environmental politics in Türkiye and the current state of affairs regarding environmentalism under Erdoğan's power. In-depth interviews with Turkish urban youth provide empirical data that links theory to real-life experiences. Based on this empirical data I argue that the economic and political contexts in Türkiye highly influence participants' attitudes towards environmental issues.

## Youth and Pro-environmental Behavior

The levels of pro-environmental behavior among youth are often classified into two extremes. On the one hand, both academia and popular media highlight the valuable role youth play in the environmental movement, and the increase in youth-led organizations and protests (Hess 2021). They focus on the positive examples of youth engagement with environmental issues and discuss (political) activism, behavioral- and lifestyle changes and more conscious consumption and resource-use that have gained popularity among certain young people (Dimitrova et al. 2021).

On the other hand, there are also large groups of young people who are not taking pro-environmental action, or even reject the concept of sustainability (Urberg and Öhman 2024). Studies among young people in the UK, Malaysia and Czech Republic shows that a majority is aware of and highly concerned with environmental issues, and willing to implement more sustainable behavior, but most young people in these studies acknowledge that they don't translate this into concrete action (Ahmad et al. 2012; Dimitrova et al. 2021; Sloam 2020). Young people not involved in pro-environmental behavior are often accused of being apathetic (Lertzman 2013: 117). But Lertzman (2013) debunks the idea that being apathetic is just a selfish reaction and argues instead that apathy is a complex reaction to complex emotions.

With the emergence of social media, particularly young people are exposed to numerous sources of information, also about environmental issues. Easy access to information helps to spread awareness and concern but it can also be overwhelming (Pihkala 2020: 12). An increasing number of young people suffer from mental health issues related to environmental concerns (Godden et al. 2021; van Nieuwenhuizen et al. 2021). Dodds (2021: 224) explains that thinking about the climate crisis and environmental challenges can be stressful and anxiety inducing. Young people are not sure what to do and whether their individual actions have an impact (ibid.) Ignoring the issue or not caring about it is an often-used coping-mechanism to deal with feelings of fear and hopelessness (ibid.). The term 'ecoparalysis' is therefore introduced as an alternative to apathy by Albrecht (2011: 50).

He argues that people's failure to act might not be unwillingness, but rather the result of stress and hopelessness related to environmental concerns (ibid.). There might be young people who are consciously choosing not to take pro-environmental actions, but it is important to critically look at the emotions and struggles that underlie non-action before labeling this as unwillingness. Pro-environmental behavior or non-behavior among young people is thus layered, and researchers need to take into account the nuances of young people's awareness, concern and pro-environmental behavior.

# The Dynamics of Environmental Awareness, Concern and Pro-environmental Behavior

Research has shown that global levels of environmental awareness and concern have risen in the past few decades (Tam and Chan 2017: 214). In general, more environmental awareness also leads to higher levels of concern (Zeng et al. 2023: 4). This means that people have become more aware about environmental problems and their impacts and that they are increasingly willing to contribute to solutions for these problems (Dunlap and Michelson 2002: 482). Although this could imply a hopeful development, other studies show that increased environmental awareness and concern does not necessarily translate into actual pro-environmental behavior (Johansson Sevä and Kulin 2018: 316; Kollmuss and Agyeman 2002; Tam and Chan 2017: 214). Pro-environmental behavior can come in many different forms and is usually divided into private and public actions (Johansson Sevä and Kulin 2018: 315). Actions at the household level, such as conscious consumerism, are considered private, whereas political actions, such as protesting or signing petitions, are considered private (Taniguchi and Marshall 2018: 388). Yet, levels of both private and public action on an individual level remain low worldwide (Johansson Sevä and Kulin 2018: 315).

Scholars have defined this lack of pro-environmental action as the 'collective action dilemma' (Kulin and Johansson Sevä 2021: 728), meaning that even though people are aware of the collective benefits of pro-environmental action, they are failing to act upon it. For a long time, researchers attributed the low levels of pro-environmental behavior to a lack of awareness and adequate knowledge on the topic (Kollmuss and Agyeman 2002: 241). It was argued that if people know more about environmental problems and the causes hereof, they would be able to act more consciously (ibid.). Still most policymakers and environmental non-governmental organizations focus on environmental education (ibid.). Although awareness about the topic is important, recent studies show that adequate knowledge on environmental issues is not a guarantee for pro-environmental behavior (ibid.).

Different explanations for the lack of pro-environmental behavior, despite awareness and even concern, have therefore been proposed. Individual factors may play a role, such as levels of empathy and altruism, as well as childhoodexperiences and levels of education (Kollmuss and Agyeman 2002). Through crossnational studies, comparing data from several countries, scholars also found that the gap between environmental awareness, concern and pro-environmental behavior differs across countries (Johansson Sevä and Kulin 2018: 315; Pisano and Lubell 2017: 31; Wolf and Moser 2011). This means that in some countries environmental awareness and concern leads to more pro-environmental behavior than in other countries (ibid.). Scholars argue that country-specific factors, such as the economic, cultural and political contexts, can help explain these differences (ibid.). Carmi and Arnon (2014) for example found out that in countries where people are more futureoriented, people tend to act more environmentally friendly. And Tam and Chan (2017) show that people in countries with loose social norms are more likely to engage in pro-environmental behavior, compared to people in countries with strict and conformist social norms.

Factors playing a role in how people translate their environmental awareness and concern into action, are thus numerous and layered. Within this research I will focus specifically on two economic factors and two political factors, because they fit well with the current societal context of Türkiye: 1. the economic state of a country, 2. postmaterialist values (Çarkoğlu and Kentmen-Çin 2015; Franzen and Vogl 2013; Inglehart 1971; Peisker 2023; Pisano and Lubell 2017; Taniguchi and Marshall 2018), 3. the 'Quality of Government' and 4. people's trust in the government (Franzen and Vogl 2013; Johansson Sevä and Kulin 2018; Kulin and Johansson Sevä 2021; Tam and Chan 2017).

## Economic Prosperity and Post-materialism

The economic state of a country has been linked to the level of environmental concern and pro-environmental behavior in several studies (Çarkoğlu and Kentmen-Çin 2015; Franzen and Vogl 2013; Peisker 2023; Pisano and Lubell 2017; Taniguchi and Marshall 2018). These studies show that in general people from countries with a stronger economy<sup>1</sup> express more environmental concern and are more likely to act pro-environmentally (Franzen and Vogl 2013; Peisker 2023; Pisano and Lubell 2017). This is often explained through Inglehart's (1971) postmaterialist argument. Inglehart (1971) points out that societies change over time and when societies become wealthier people's values change. In wealthier societies people's basic material needs are easily met and therefore day-to-day survival is not a priority. This leaves room for the development of different, so-called nonmaterialist values, such as personal growth and freedom (ibid.). Inglehart (1971) defines environmental concern as another prominent post-materialist value, and he argues that people in wealthier, economically stable countries are more likely to concern themselves with environmental issues. Research also shows that postmaterialist values boost climate activism (Henn et al. 2022; Sloam et al. 2022).

Although Inglehart provides an interesting analysis, his post-materialist argument has been criticized too. His argument, for example, does not account for the large body of environmental movements in economically less well-off countries (Yıldız 2022: 376). It is often marginalized communities in poor countries that are facing the most tangible effects of environmental degradation, and activism is in many instances intertwined with environmental justice concerns (Gonzalez 2015: 152; Scheidel et al. 2020: 1). Scheidel et al. (2020:1) show that these activists are not only driven by environmental protection but also livelihood protection. Based on this criticism Inglehart adjusted his argument more than twenty years later (Yıldız 2022: 376). He restated that, whereas post-materialist values partially explain environmental concerns and pro-environmental behavior, exposure to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Gross Domestic Product of a country is mostly used as the determinant for economic prosperity (Franzen and Vogl 2013).

severe environmental degradation is another important factor determining environmental concern and pro-environmental behavior (Inglehart 1995).

Çarkoğlu and Kentmen-Çin (2015) provide an alternative argument. They also found in their cross-country analysis that people in economically less well-off countries are less willing to implement ecologically sustainable behavior, because they feel that richer countries should take responsibility (ibid.). The economic development of richer countries highly depended on the exploitation of natural resources in poorer countries, which leaves these countries with an unequal environmental burden (ibid.). Changes in lifestyle to enhance pro-environmental behavior might be perceived as another burden, and therefore, as Çarkoğlu and Kentmen-Çin (2015) show, people choose not to engage in these practices.

Studies that focus specifically on the relationship between countries' economic prosperity and environmental concerns and pro-environmental behavior among young people is limited, and the results are mixed. Gong and Zheng (2021) found no significant difference between wealthy and poor countries and young people's environmental concerns. They state that young people are more in touch with the topic due to education and peers, compared to older people. Henn et al. (2022: 725) however, show contrasting results and argue that young people who are poor tend to be less concerned with environmental issues. This can be explained by the fact that these young people have a sense of more immediate concerns like financial stability, job-security and safe housing (Sloam 2020; Sloam et al. 2022: 725).

#### Quality of Government and Trust in Government

An ongoing environmental debate relates to who bears responsibility for environmental degradation and who should take action to counter its effects. Governments or individuals? Ideally the two entities would enforce each-other; engaged citizens can encourage governments to implement pro-environmental rules and regulation, whereas governments can encourage citizens to make more sustainable choices in their everyday lives (Kulin and Johansson Sevä 2021). The effect of the relationship between citizens and their government on people's environmental concern and pro-environmental behavior has been explored in several studies (Franzen and Vogl 2013: 7; Johansson Sevä and Kulin 2018; Kulin and Johansson Sevä 2021; Tam and Chan 2017).

The Quality of Government is often used as a measure to describe how well a government functions. Rothstein and Teorell (2008) explain that good Quality of Government entails a government that is unbiased, effective, fair and non-corrupt. Kulin and Johansson Sevä (2021: 746) show in their cross-national study that people from countries with a high-Quality of Government show higher levels of pro-environmental behavior both in the public and private sphere. They state that people are more willing to contribute on an individual level if they know that their government is implementing sustainable measures in an effective and fair way (Kulin and Johansson Sevä 2021). Similarly, corrupt governments generate suspicion among their citizens and make them less likely to take individual sustainable action (ibid.).

People's trust in their government is another important indicator for proenvironmental behavior. People from countries with low levels of trust in others and the government are less likely to take pro-environmental action even if they show high levels of environmental concern (Franzen and Vogl 2013; Johansson Sevä and Kulin 2018; Tam and Chan 2017). In contrast, higher levels of trust in the government makes people more likely to take future-oriented actions that serve a collective purpose rather than only fulfilling one's own individual interests (Kulin and Johansson Sevä 2021: 733). Some studies, however, show contrasting results. Torgler et al. (2011) found that people from more corrupt countries are more likely to participate in environmental activism as they do not trust government intervention. If people do not trust their government, it can also lead them to take action in their own hands. Similarly, Franzen and Vogl (2013: 7) argued that low Quality of Government and little trust in governments can lead to higher levels of environmental concerns, because the government does not take adequate action. They also argue that high levels of Quality of Government and government trust can make people more indifferent in their personal actions as they feel that their government is taking action and therefore their individual actions are not needed (ibid.).

Studies focusing on young people in Australia, Malta and Morocco show that they are generally critical of the environmental efforts of their respective governments, and they blame their governments for not doing enough (Daadaoui and Saoud 2017; Fien et al. 2002; Mifsud 2011). This then demotivates these young people to take individual actions (ibid.). Research further shows that young people demand government support to encourage individual sustainable behavior. They want governments to take away barriers to act sustainably, such as providing cheaper public transport (Ahmad et al. 2012; Dimitrova et al. 2021; Sloam 2020).

The political context in which young people grow up also influences their environmental engagement as Kitanova (2020) describes. Young people in long-established democracies are more likely to engage in activism than young people in younger or less strong democratic states, like former Soviet countries (ibid.). This can be explained by young people's trust in the political system they grow up in. If young people feel that they can participate in politics and that their voices are heard, they are more likely to participate (Bene 2020: 5). Within authoritarian regimes, for example, youth activism is actively repressed by the state, which makes it a difficult and even dangerous task (Sika 2019). In Türkiye, authoritarian measures have led to relatively weak youth activism and civic engagement (Yabancı 2021: 473).

## Environmental Politics in Türkiye - An Overview

When the Ottoman Empire fell apart in 1922 and Mustafa Kemal Atatürk established the Turkish republic in 1923, he envisioned a new modern state that would let go of its 'backward' Ottoman image (Akbulut and Adaman 2013: 1; Özler and Obach 2019: 778). Atatürk had a pro-Western orientation and he aimed for modernization and development in line with the West (Arsel and Adaman 2022: 60; Özler and Obach 2019: 778; Paker 2020). Harris (2014) is critical however of this narrative and argues that it stems from an Orientalist view in which the West is idealized and Türkiye is considered as its a-modern "Other" (Harris 2014: 11). Nonetheless, modernization plays an important role in Turkish politics, and it is defined through economic progress (Akbulut and Adaman 2013: 2). Modernization is seen as part of the collective interests of the Turkish nation, and it is the task of the state to fulfill this need through economic growth (Akbulut and Adaman 2013: 3). Modernization plays an important role in many countries, but the Turkish need for modernization takes on obsessive forms and is prioritized in policymaking, which also leads to justified state oppression in the name of development for the nation (Akbulut and Adaman 2013: 3; Paker 2020: 6; Turhana and Gündoğan 2017: 290).

It was only until the late 1980's that environmental politics gained attention in Türkiye (Arsel and Adaman 2022: 61). The main explanation why Türkiye was quite late in addressing environmental issues is its focus on development and economic growth (Demir 2022: 138). Other societal aspects, such as poverty alleviation, the Kurdish conflict and political stability were prioritized (Demir 2022: 138; Keypour 2023). A critical moment in Turkish environmentalism was the Bergama protests that started in 1988 (Demir 2022: 138). The local community of Bergama, a town on the West-coast of Türkiye, started a successful grassroots movement against gold mining in their village (ibid.). After these protests, numerous other local grassroots movements arose, mainly protesting against the social and ecological impacts of resource extraction and energy generation in their areas (Arsel and Adaman 2022: 61; Kurtiç 2022: 5; Paker 2020). Although the

amount of national and international environmental organizations is growing, the environmental movement remains fairly small and scattered and therefore has not been able to gain political momentum (Arsel and Adaman 2022: 61, 63; Demir 2022: 145; Özler and Obach 2019: 776; Paker 2020: 12).

#### Environmental Politics under Erdoğan's Power

Erdoğan has gained immense popularity among Turkish people. His popularity mainly stems from a feeling of exclusion experienced by many rural and conservative people (Özler and Obach 2019: 774). Atatürk's secular and modern reforms, although still celebrated by many Turkish people today, did not resonate with all citizens and therefore created a sentiment of being left behind (Özen 2022: 6; Özler and Obach 2019: 774). Eventually Erdoğan could make use of this sentiment to gain power (Özen 2022: 3). When he came into power, he further increased the prominence of economic growth by taking on a neoliberalist turn (Paker 2020). But the state-led mega infrastructure projects, energy investments as well as commodification and privatization of natural resources have had major environmental impacts (Akbulut and Adaman 4, 5; Arsel and Adaman 2022: 62; Özen 2022: 5). The focus on economic growth hinders sustainable reform and critical assessments of the impact of polluting sectors such as transportation, agriculture and tourism (Özler and Obach 2019: 784; Paker 2020). Erdoğan presents his politics and neoliberal reforms as 'services for the people' and therefore justifies them (Akbulut and Adaman 2013: 5, 6; Paker 2020).

Erdoğan's right-wing populist authoritarian governance influences his environmental attitudes too. Studies show that (authoritarian) right-wing populist regimes increasingly influence environmental narratives and practices (Böhmelt 2021; Huber 2020; Kurtiç 2022; Özen 2022). Böhmelt (2021), for example, studied the relationship between populist leadership and environmental output, by comparing data from sixty-six countries. He argues that populist leadership is indeed correlated with overall lower environmental performance (ibid.), as is the case for Erdoğan. The relationship between right-wing populism, authoritarianism and environmental malperformance is usually explained through the nationalist,

anti-elitist and coercive narratives of authoritarian right-wing populist regimes (Böhmelt 2021; Lockwood 2018; McCarthy 2019; Ofstehage et al. 2022).

With regards to nationalism, Erdoğan has gradually taken on anti-Western sentiments, particularly after the failed attempts to become part of the EU in 2016, which is in stark contrast to Atatürk's pro-Western orientation in the 20th century, (Özen 2022: 4). This anti-Western sentiment became another powerful tool to delegitimize environmental concerns and movements, because they were accused of affiliation with foreign institutions to weaken the Turkish economy or challenge its energy sovereignty (Kurtiç 2022: 4; Özen 2022: 4, 6; Özler and Obach 2019: 773). It is important however to understand this anti-Westernism beyond the populist narrative. The Kemalist idea of catching up with the West, stems from an Orientalist<sup>2</sup> perspective. Similarly, with regards to environmentalism, Western narratives and policies remain dominant. Harris (2014: 17) explains that this creates a sense of loss among Turks, because they are afraid to lose parts of their cultural identity when they comply with these Western ideas.

At the same time, catching up with the West has become an argument to justify pollution and unsustainable growth. It is argued that the West was able to pollute in the past without any consequences, and that Türkiye, like other rapidly developing countries has the right to follow a similar path (Harris 2014: 11; Özler and Obach 2019: 782). Another point of resentment regards the dumping of Western waste in many non-Western countries, including Türkiye. Particularly during 1980-1990 Türkiye was a popular place where chemical waste of Western countries got dumped, with tremendous environmental effects (Demir 2022:141). It feels unjust that the countries who polluted in the past, now are at the forefront to determine international environmental regulations. It is therefore important to be critical of the historical geopolitical context in which the diverse sentiments regarding environmental challenges are created.

Erdoğan uses an anti-elitist rhetoric to show that he will serve 'the people' of Türkiye (Özen 2022: 4). He portrays environmentalists as leftist, Kemalist and pro-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Orientalism, a term introduced by Edward Said in 1978, refers to the popular distinction between the West as modern and the East as primitive (Harris 2014: 4).

Western entities, keen on destroying the AKP and everything it stands for (ibid.). Erdoğan has used this enemy-perspective to both challenge environmentalism and strengthen his political power by appropriating environmentalism (Özen 2022). He presents himself and the AKP as the true environmentalists, in contrast to the 'fake' environmentalists who are driven by political ideologies (Özen 2022: 7; Turhana and Gündoğan 2017: 282). A telling example hereof is the introduction of a National Tree Planting Day that will occur every year on the 11th of November (Kurtiç 2022: 1; Özen 2022: 7). The seemingly innocent act of planting trees does not only become a symbolic act to obscure the environmental degradation caused by the government, but also a tool to challenge the legitimacy of environmental movements (Kurtic 2022). This became even more clear in Erdoğan's speech on the first National Tree Planting Day in 2019: "They [environmentalists] are nowhere to be found. They haven't planted a single tree. Because planting trees is not their concern. They are interested in burning down Türkiye (in Kurtiç 2022: 6)". However, besides its symbolic nature, Erdoğan's greening practices are also criticized by ecologists who warn that the projects are ineffective and at times harmful, because they do not take into account local ecosystems (Özen 2022: 7).

Increasingly, environmental activism becomes coupled with other social and political struggles in Türkiye. The 2013 Gezi protests are a clear example hereof. The protests, initially steered at the protection of a park in the center of Istanbul, culminated into nationwide protests against the state and its continuous focus on economic growth (Kurtiç 2022: 5; Turhana and Gündoğan 2017: 278). These protests, which posed a serious threat to the AKP's power, served as a catalyst for Erdoğan's shift towards authoritarian governance (Özen 2022 1,5). This reform included the weakening of democratic institutions and freedom of speech, and created violent opposition towards environmental activists, both physically as well as psychologically through conspiracy theories and legal accusations (Özen 2022: 4). Environmental activism has thus become a difficult and dangerous phenomenon under Erdoğan's power.

Due to the growing global awareness of environmental degradation, external pressure regarding sustainability increased. This has led Erdoğan to take on a

slightly more sustainable course under the banner of green growth (Kurtiç 2022: 3; Turhana and Gündoğan 2017). Green growth implies to secure both economic growth and sustainability, but it is criticized by many because it ignores the problematic environmental impacts of capitalist growth (Brand 2012; Turhana and Gündoğan 2017: 282). In the case of Erdoğan, green growth seems to be more symbolic than practical, since environmental measures are only implemented if they do not hamper economic growth (Kurtiç 2022: 3). Similarly, the Turkish environmental law system is very elaborate, yet proper implementation is lacking because economic growth is favored over environmental protection (Arsel and Adaman 2022: 61; Keypour 2023). Besides, the focus of its sustainable course lies on technocratic practices, which obscures the social impacts of environmental impacts of so-called 'sustainable solutions' (Turhana and Gündoğan 2017: 285).

An example hereof is Erdoğan's focus on hydroelectricity as a renewable energy source. He implemented new controversial laws that allow private companies to have ownership over rivers for fourty-nine years to create hydro-electric power plants (Islar 2012: 367; Paker 2020: 9). Although this can be seen as a sustainable measure, it fits very well within the authoritarian tactic to take control over resources to strengthen one's political and financial power (Ofstehage et al. 2022: 1.2). The neoliberal approach of privatizing water as a natural resource, creates benefits for the state and companies, while it poses challenges to the livelihoods of local communities and the natural environment. (Islar 2012: 379). Under Erdoğan's authoritarian and neoliberal approach natural resources thus become sites of power and control.

Erdoğan's neoliberal practices have indeed led to economic growth and increased living standards for many Turkish people (Özler and Obach 2019: 780), but from 2018 onwards the country's financial situation has drastically worsened (Elliot 2018). The country suffers from major inflation, and prices of everyday products change daily (Michaelson and Narlı 2022). The regional elections that took place in March 2024, showed cracks in Erdoğan's popularity, as the opposition party won a majority of the votes (Michaelson and Aldatmaz 2024). Many people who used to vote for Erdoğan's AKP explained that they voted for the opposition

party because of the economic situation, and the failure of the AKP government to deal with it (ibid.).

Erdoğan's governance has not only drastically influenced Türkiye's political, social and economic sphere, but also the environmental sphere. And his neoliberal, right-wing populist and authoritarian attitude both limits sustainable progress, and challenges any environmental counter-narrative.

#### The Conduct of This Study

This research has been conducted from a critical theory perspective, thus focusing on the social, historical and political factors that shape people's understanding in everyday life (Guba and Lincoln 1994: 109). The role of my research is to acknowledge the contextuality in which Turkish youth create environmental awareness and concerns and translate these into action. I therefore conducted qualitative research which allows for more in-depth discussions of relevant themes and debates. In contrast to quantitative research, qualitative research provides rich accounts of participants' perceptions, which helps to lay out the nuanced and complex way in which people make sense of the world (Cypress 2015: 357; Kleinberg and Toomey 2023: 373). Qualitative research in the Turkish context is limited, so this study helps to provide new and complementary insights to existing research.

I have used semi-structured, in-depth interviews to gather data on the real-life experiences of Turkish youth. In contrast to structured interviews, semi-structured interviews are more flexible. They help to address specific topics relevant for the research, but they also leave room for participants to add new insights (Galletta 2013: 2). With the help of a family friend in Ankara I was able to find participants and conduct 10 face-to-face interviews in Ankara. Five interviews took place at a university campus in Ankara, and five interviews took place at the participants' houses. Through a message on my personal Instagram account, I was able to reach two more participants who lived in Ankara with whom I had online interviews. Although I got into contact with the participants through mutual connections, I did not know any of the participants personally. The interviews lasted between 30 and 60 minutes, and the people I interviewed were aged between 19 and 29<sup>3</sup> and all were university students. Since I am not fluent in Turkish the interviews took place in English.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> There is no consensus for the age classification of youth, and classifications differ per country and organization, but generally the classification of youth lies somewhere between the age of 15 and 35 (Pincock et al. 2024: 4).

Nine participants were female and three were male. The unequal gender distribution is due to the fact that for me as a female researcher it was easier to get into contact with female participants. Research focusing on the effects of gender on environmental awareness and concerns show very contrasting results, as in some studies higher levels of awareness and concern is measured among women and in others among men (MacDonald and Hara 1994: 369). With regards to my research, the young women expressed their concerns more openly, and showed more emotional concerns such as fear, sadness and frustration. In general, the women also focused more on individual actions to take, whereas the young men showed little trust in individual actions. Being a woman myself, might also have influenced the conversation with the participants. I want to stress, however, that the focus of this research is not on gender differences.

My presence as a researcher influences people's behavior. Some participants told me beforehand that they were a bit nervous or did not feel confident in their 'knowledge' of the topic. It was important for me to be transparent and open about my research and create a safe space where participants felt comfortable to talk. I reassured them that there were no right or wrong answers, and that I am interested in their perspectives and experiences. Telling participants about my Turkish roots was often a useful icebreaker. I asked the participants for written or oral consent, varying per interview, to participate in the research and record the interviews. I recorded the interviews with my phone, to create a more relaxed atmosphere. The recordings have been stored locally on my computer and will be deleted on June 9 2024. The recordings have been used for research purposes only and were not shared with other parties.

The well-being of participants is extremely important and ensuring their safety was a priority during the research. Since freedom of speech, journalism and academic research have become sensitive topics in Türkiye (Demir 2021), I needed to be careful. Criticism of the government can have severe consequences, and under Erdoğan's power many journalists, scholars and citizens have been arrested (ibid.). All participants remain anonymous throughout the thesis and their names are not mentioned in the recordings to ensure that the recordings cannot be traced back to

specific individuals. I also decided not to talk about politics, unless participants started to bring up political topics themselves. As most participants hinted at being critical of the current government, I had expected that participants would be hesitant to share their insights, but the contrary was true. The people I interviewed were very eager to talk, open and honest and some interviews became quite emotional. At first, I felt a bit uncomfortable when this happened, but then one of the participants thanked me and told me that she was really happy for the space to talk and express her ideas.

Conducting in-depth interviews, however, also has its limitations. I was only able to talk to a small group of people. Most participants expressed some form of criticism towards the current government, which is important to acknowledge. A focus on young people with strong pro-Erdoğan sentiments, may have led to different results. Besides, the participants I interviewed mostly came from a higher socio-economic background, were highly educated, and lived in an urban environment. I want to be careful not to generalize my results and acknowledge that the rich diversity of Turkish youth is not properly reflected in this research.

The interviews took place in English, which is neither my own native language, nor that of the participants. Although all participants were proficient in English, some felt insecure about their level of English, and they felt awkward speaking in a non-native language at the beginning of the interview. Participants used an online translation app a few times, if they were not sure how to translate a Turkish word or phrase into English. As Koulouriotis (2011: 7) points out, it can be harder to express yourself in a non-native language and sometimes nuances or subtleties get lost in translation.

Lastly, I want to point out a struggle many researchers experience, namely the disparity between what participants *say* they do and what they *actually* do. Sometimes participants feel obliged to give socially desirable answers that do not resonate with their actual opinions or behavior (Bergen and Labonté 2020; Harvey 2018). I asked participants about their pro-environmental behavior, but I was not able to 'check' their behavior through observation. The people I interviewed, however, did not only focus on positive examples, but they also point out what they

did not do, or what they could do better. A discrepancy between what people said they do and what they are actually doing is therefore limited.

Through these in-depth interviews I was able to get a deeper understanding of the environmental awareness and concerns young people in Türkiye have and how they translate these into action. Afterwards I transcribed the interviews and hand-coded them. Based on the theoretical framework I created four themes for analysis:

1. Environmental Awareness and Concern, 2. Pro-environmental behavior, 3. Economic Challenges and 4. Political Challenges. Within these themes I established five sub-themes that were based on the hand-coding of the interview data: a. Environmental Education, b. The Role of Religion, c. Environmental Inaction, d. Environmental Activism and e. Türkiye versus the West. The themes and sub-themes were constructed by combining similar topics or arguments that were mentioned by at least two participants.

## Participants' Environmental Awareness and

#### Concern

All participants expressed some form of environmental awareness. Some pointed out general global issues such as climate change and pollution, but most participants focused on local issues in Türkiye or Ankara specifically. One topic that came up frequently was the change of weather in Ankara. Usually Ankara has cold and snowy winters, but according to the participants, it hardly snowed in the past two years. As one participant explained:

I mean, it has always snowed in Ankara in the winter, and it hasn't snowed a single day this winter, which is really shocking... Like, kids now wouldn't probably in ten years expect to see snow in winter in Ankara, which is very strange because, I mean, it always snowed.

Another participant was concerned about this change as well as other people's reaction to it.

This year, we only had two weeks of winter. And everyone was very happy, like, ah, the weather is so good. It's concerning! It's not a good thing to not have winter, or the opposite. So, yeah, it's very much concerning at this point.

The participants thus not only noticed this change, but they were also aware that it is something to be concerned about. As the winters are getting warmer, summers in Türkiye also tend to get hotter and dryer. For the past few years, Türkiye has suffered from major wildfires and droughts. As participants explained, this leads to water shortages, especially in Ankara which already has a dry climate.

Especially throughout the summer, there were major droughts. Like, the water barrages were really draining.

Besides changes in the weather, pollution was a topic that often came up. Particularly water and air pollution were mentioned. One participant usually spends her summers in one of the coastal cities and she explained how the water quality has worsened over time.

When I was a kid, the water was really pure, but now it is really bad...The surface is white and it is like trash... And we generally can't swim because of this bad situation.

Another participant who is originally from Izmir, a coastal city, argued that water pollution has always been an issue in this city.

We had a couple of years ago issues of pollution in the sea, and it affects the whole city because it smells...and people started complaining. And we had, I think back in 2004 or something, a mayor who really worked on the pollution of the sea and we started seeing sea urchins, like, it was cleaner. Now we have the same issue again, it's always an issue in the municipality in Izmir.

Water pollution is a visible problem in the coastal areas of Türkiye, and although the participants were not sure about the cause of this pollution they were aware that it is a problematic trend. Additionally, air pollution in the city of Ankara was pointed out. The pollution was mostly linked to the major traffic in the city. As participants told me, the public transport system in the city is not very good, so most people take the car to commute. One participant said that due to the economic state of the country, people cannot afford electric cars and many people drive old cars that are more pollutant. Several people mentioned the increasing number of people

in the city as another factor leading to more air pollution<sup>4</sup>. One participant argued that:

So many people come to big cities ... so the number of people increases in Ankara. So, the driving has increased, and pollution is really high.

Air pollution is not only seen as an environmental issue but also as a threat to people's health and overall quality of life.

So we really get sick because of the air pollution... In the morning or afternoon, we can see the black or gray waves. And this gets [us] sick and it is really bad.

Interestingly, the most common environmental challenges that were mentioned, namely changing weather and pollution all have very tangible effects. The participants linked environmental issues to their own lived experiences and changes they have noticed over the years.

Besides awareness of the problem, most participants also expressed environmental concern, coupled with strong emotions. Feelings of sadness were expressed:

The planet is really important, and it is gorgeous, I think. But we don't use it carefully. And it is terrible because our planet gives so much.

Some expressed fear for the future and were afraid of things getting worse. One participant expressed her fear of increasing wildfires: "I'm a little bit freaked out how the summer will go". Another participant said that she sometimes chooses not

29

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Türkiye is currently hosting the most migrants in the world, around 4 million, mostly Syrian refugees (Yücel 2024). Although these people were initially welcomed with open arms, currently 80% percent of the Turkish population prefers the migrants to leave, mainly due to Türkiye's economic struggles (Yücel 2024). Besides, the devastating Earthquake in the South-east of Türkiye in February 2023 created an internal influx of migrants from the affected areas.

to think about it because "it's a scary topic to think about". One participant was very pessimistic about the future, and she mentioned that "crisis and apocalyptic scenarios come to mind" when she thinks about environmental degradation. Another participant was worried specifically about the future of Türkiye.

If these effects of the climate change accelerate in 15 years or 20 years, I think Turkey<sup>5</sup> would be the first country that would go extinct, so to speak. Because we are the first country that would run out of water... We are the first country to run out of food.

As abovementioned examples show, the participants are aware of environmental issues, particularly local issues and show concern for these issues. They pointed out problems that affect them in their daily lives and they are aware of the severity thereof. These findings are in line with the research showing that young people are increasingly aware of and concerned about environmental problems (Tam and Chan 2017: 214). Studies focusing on Türkiye specifically, also show that people in general are aware of this issue and its future implications (Dubel and Kaan 2017; Yıldız 2022) and a cross-national comparison of young people's perception of environmental degradation demonstrates that environmental concern was highest among Turkish young people (Lee et al. 2020).

The participants' focus on local environmental challenges is remarkable, but not uncommon. Although environmental degradation is a global phenomenon, people experience the effects of it mostly on a local level (Nash et al. 2019). As Gärtner and Schoen (2021) describe, personal experiences with environmental degradation play an important role in people's environmental awareness and concern. They explain that through personal experiences, abstract global issues like climate change, become more tangible and therefore more real (ibid.). In contrast, research among Australian youth shows that if people are not personally experiencing the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In 2021 the Turkish government requested an official name change at the United Nations, to disassociate the country with the 'turkey' bird (The Guardian 2022). As of 2021, the country's official international name became Türkiye (ibid.). Most participants, however, still used Turkey, instead of Türkiye during the interviews.

effects of environmental degradation, they are more likely not to pay attention to environmental issues in general (Connell et al. 1999). Personal experience of environmental degradation among the Turkish participants may thus play a role in their level of awareness and environmental concern.

#### **Environmental Education**

Interestingly, several participants claimed that a lack of environmental awareness and concern is a problem in Türkiye. Some participants thought that they did not have enough knowledge to engage in pro-environmental behavior, and some projected this idea onto other people, and argued that other people in Türkiye were not educated enough on the topic. This attitude sometimes came with frustration towards others, as participants felt that others "don't understand" and "don't care". This feeling of frustration is understandable as it can be demotivating when other people around you seem not to care about this topic. Youth in the United States and Morocco share similar sentiments (Daadaoui and Saoud 2017; Tejada et al. 2020). The participants from these respective countries argued that people are often stuck in their habits and don't care enough about the problem to change anything (ibid.). The American participants pointed out that the older people in their lives are not able to give a good example to younger generations either (Tejada et al. 2020). One participant I interviewed felt like a lot of people are not making an effort to educate themselves.

I don't think they are opening a book or watching the news to see what happens and learn solutions... I don't think they are spending too much effort to think and discuss about it.

Besides individual efforts to learn more about environmental issues, the role of education often came up during the interviews.

I think the lack of knowledge they have right now is an issue, because in schools we don't mention that much about this issue.

Although a majority of the participants agreed that environmental education was not a big part of their school curriculums, some said that they had classes in school on the topic of sustainability. One participant specifically mentioned recycling as an important aspect of her education.

In Turkey all the schools have these recycle boxes that we put in paper or plastic. I think it really helps... And I started school at 7 years old, so I am used to recycling materials. Because I learned from school and everybody, let's say in my age, learned this from school.

There is a big difference between private and public schools in Türkiye so this could explain the different answers. Ardalı et al. (2016) pointed out that formal environmental education in Turkish schools and universities has its shortcomings, mainly due to inconsistent implementation among different educational institutions and a lack of well-trained teachers. This explains the different experiences participants had, and their general skeptical attitude towards environmental education in Türkiye. To add, one participant had little faith in the government implementing more structural environmental education, as it would make people more aware of the government's own unsustainable practices.

One participant thought that accessibility to information and environmental organizations is an issue. She said that people, including herself, don't really know where to find information or how to reach environmental organizations.

From the perspective of someone living in Turkey, we don't know how to get to these organizations as well. Maybe that could increase our awareness or that could help us do something about our environment. I think accessibility is also an issue... especially here in Turkey. You have to, personally, try harder to get to some sort of organization, for example, clean out the beaches in Izmir... You have to make an effort for yourself.

Since many participants pointed out that a lack of awareness and education is a problem, they proposed that environmental education could be helpful. They argued that increased awareness will lead to increased environmental behavior.

Maybe they may develop some projects about that [sustainability] in universities. For instance... putting some highlights on this topic so we are aware of what we are doing and how we are impacting it.

It is a really important topic, but nobody knows so much information about this. I hope, someday, it can be a lesson in high schools.

I think starting at a young age would change a lot of things because your brain is not fully developed yet. You're open to information, and whatever you learn from an early age sticks with you.

Participants had different ideas about when to start environmental education; either from a young age, in high school or in university. And although they argued that education was important, they could not describe what environmental education should look like exactly and what kind of topics should be covered. It is interesting to see that the participants link more knowledge to more conscious proenvironmental behavior, while this assumption does not align with existing research (Johansson Sevä and Kulin 2018: 316; Kollmuss and Agyeman 2002; Post and Meng 2018: 12; Tam and Chan 2017: 214). Interestingly, young people from Australia, China and Malaysia also argued that others in their respective countries needed to be more educated in order to engage in pro-environmental behavior (Ahmad et al. 2012; Connell et al. 1999; Wong 2003). Although education plays an important role in creating environmental knowledge and awareness, we have to be critical of the idea that more knowledge automatically leads to pro-environmental behavior.

Environmental education has become a popular topic of inquiry, yet most studies are skeptical of the effectiveness of current environmental education approaches (Trott 2022; Monroe et al. 2019: 791; Rousell and Cutter-Mackenzie-Knowles 2020: 191). The focus of environmental education is on the cognitive aspect, in other words increasing factual knowledge on the topic (Rousell and Cutter-Mackenzie-Knowles 2020: 203). Researchers propose that it would be fruitful to have more engaging and creative ways of environmental education, in which young people actively participate (Monroe et al. 2019; Trott 2022). This not only helps them to feel more connected to the topic, but it also creates a space where young people can express their own ideas and insights (Trott 2022; Monroe et al. 2019: 791; Rousell and Cutter-Mackenzie-Knowles 2020: 191).

#### The Role of Religion

While most participants referred to educational institutions, when talking about increasing environmental awareness and concern in Türkiye, two participants mentioned the potential of religion. According to these participants, as a majority of Turkish people identify as Muslim, religion could play a role in increasing environmental awareness and concern.

I think, since Turkey is a really religious country... I feel like people can easily be religiously motivated... What I'm trying to say is, if people actually see waste as a sin maybe, they would do less of it. For example, lying is a sin and killing someone is a sin. So religion is kinda putting people in their place.

Religion is a very good linking tool to make somebody do something in our country... We didn't proceed with this step of education, but it might be used as an opportunity to deal with this kind of environmental issue as well.

They also argued that certain religious aspects already promote proenvironmental behavior, and thus religion cannot only play a role in educating people but also motivate them to act more sustainably. Actually, in our religion [Islam], it's forbidden to waste anything, food, water, electricity, and the other. So people are acting without consciousness. Like, do not open water too much and do not waste water. Do not throw out the food, bread... We have some cultural stuff to prevent this.

Scholars have gained interest in the relationship between religion and proenvironmental behavior and explored the potential of religious environmentalism (Gottlieb 2007; Khalid 2010; Nilan 2020; Yildirim 2016). Gottlieb (2007) argues that a majority of the world population identifies as religious, and that religious environmental groups may be more accessible to these people than secular organizations. According to Nilan (2020: 936), secular environmentalism mainly focuses on scientific approaches which can be very distant from people's everyday experiences. Religious environmentalism, on the other hand, may provide tools and insights that are closer to people's everyday lives and spiritual practices (ibid.).<sup>6</sup>

The participants showed environmental awareness and concern, but they also argued that environmental topics should be discussed more and overall environmental awareness in Türkiye should be increased. Improving environmental education and exploring the educative potential of religion were proposed as potential solutions to tackle this problem.

.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> It must be noted that religion is a sensitive topic in Türkiye, and public debates often center around secularism and religion (McKernan 2020). Although Türkiye officially is a secular country, Erdoğan has put a strong focus on religion and increased funding for religious projects and education (ibid.). Yet, research shows that especially young people in Türkiye increasingly object to religion (ibid.).

### Participants' Pro-environmental Behavior

Some participants translated their environmental awareness and concern into action. The examples of pro-environmental behavior mainly focused on individual acts relating to making more conscious consumer choices and being careful with using natural resources, in other words private actions. Participants explained that they are careful with their usage of water, because of the earlier mentioned struggles with water-scarcity in Ankara. Two participants mentioned that they try to take public transport or walk as much as possible to avoid extra emissions from driving a car. Buying secondhand items was often proposed as positive sustainable behavior, but as one participant explained, it is not very popular in Türkiye because it is still very much associated with being poor. Some participants said that they try to avoid using single-use products and reduce their plastic consumption.

I'm trying to pay some attention to these topics... like having a bottle always with me, and I mean, for the coffees not... using... all the Starbucks cups. This kind of stuff I'm doing right now... I'm always going with cloth bags to the markets and shopping malls to not use all these plastic bags.

[I] try to use solid shampoos to prevent myself from using too much plastic. But it's like kind of minor stuff.

A more controversial topic that came up was recycling. Some participants argued that recycling was not a big thing in Türkiye, while the participants who learned about recycling in school were very positive about it. As Ojala (2008: 790) describes, recycling can create feelings of hope among young people, as it is a very tangible activity that makes them feel like they are actively contributing to a more sustainable world. Through small actions these participants try to do their part in living more sustainably. Without obscuring the importance of structural changes, individual behavioral changes are an important step towards more sustainable societies (Pickering et al. 2021: 2). Within the vastness and complexity of

environmental challenges, sustainable life-style choices can create a feeling of agency and control (Pickering et al. 2021: 3). The participants who participated in pro-environmental behavior felt that even with small steps they could contribute, and indeed have agency through their actions. As one participant explained, it is important to "[start] with small steps and then [take] bigger steps".

Research from Brunei and Australia shows that young people in these countries also mainly engaged in sustainable action on an individual lifestyle-level, and that they feel that bigger, political actions take up too much time and have little tangible effects (Fien et al. 2002: 213, 214). Additionally, cross-national research points out that young people are more willing to take smaller, more convenient proenvironmental actions, even if they know that the impact is lower than bigger and less convenient actions (Lee et al. 2020: 11). Convenience, and a willingness to give up certain comforts might thus also play a role in young people's pro-environmental choices. Since this topic did not come up during the interviews, it is difficult to say how much convenience played a role in pro-environmental behavior of the participants in this study.

#### **Environmental Inaction**

It is important to know, however, that most participants honestly admitted that they don't actively engage in pro-environmental behavior, even though they experience the local effects of environmental degradation. This is in line with research showing that exposure to local environmental degradation does not necessarily increase people's feeling of responsibility and pro-environmental behavior (Gärtner and Schoen 2021; Janmaimool and Chudech 2020). The participants expressed that they feel that their individual actions are pointless if there is no collective action taken by for example companies or the government.

I personally can't do anything that matters. Like, what I'm gonna do, recycle? I mean, I try to do my best, but something that I do doesn't really matter...The real concern that I have is how we can change these, you know, massive corporations

and... how they impact the climate. That's what my real concern is. And I feel like... we are powerless to do anything, personally.

None at all. Zero. Because I used to be, but then I realized whatever I do, whatever I minimize, whatever I change is nothing compared to the industry's output of carbon emissions. So now I just don't care at all.

So I think the things that I can do for the climate or for the environment in general doesn't really matter unless the factories or the big companies do anything to do with that. So I think I stopped caring at some point.

The examples show that these young people express a feeling of having very little influence. Toivonen (2022: 7) interviewed people from eleven different nationalities and found that the majority had little trust in their individual actions, and that they considered such small actions to be meaningless compared to "big powers outside of their control". As a result of this feeling, they decide not to care about the issue. One participant I interviewed explained that not caring gives her a sense of control.

It's exhausting...so I started to not care... Now the only thing we have in our hands is to ignore it.

Not dealing with the complexity of environmental issues becomes a coping mechanism, as Dodds (2021) demonstrates. These attitudes resonate with Albrecht's (2011) notion of eco-paralysis. Not knowing how to deal with environmental challenges, leads to no action at all. The participants who took on this 'I don't care' mentality, were generally pessimistic about the future of the environment. Feeling hopeless is a heavy burden and challenges one's ability to act environmentally friendly (Ojala 2012; Wilks and Harris 2016). Young people who are hopeful about the future are more likely to act pro-environmentally friendly than those who have a pessimistic view about the future (ibid.). It is important though,

that hope is not based on denial of the urgency of environmental degradation, because then it limits pro-environmental behavior (Ojola 2012).

Although most participants struggled to act pro-environmentally, the participants do not suffer specifically from eco-paralysis, but rather from an overall action paralysis that comes from a general feeling of fatalism and hopelessness. From the interviews it became clear that most participants were not only pessimistic about the state of the natural environment, but also about the state of their country.

### **Economic Challenges**

One aspect that led to pessimism among the participants, is the economic crisis Türkiye currently faces. The topic came up regularly during the interviews and participants explained that most people in Türkiye are struggling because of the economic situation. They argued that a majority of the population is focusing on getting their basic needs met, and therefore environmental issues are not their top-priority.

Because we have hyperinflation for, like, I don't know, two years, three years. So you can't really care about the environmental stuff [if] you are hungry.

Here people are just trying to make their day through all of this, especially, like, inflation and financial crisis...I mean, we have so much stuff going on. Because we're getting poor ... you kind of shift your point to a survival mode, and you don't have time to think about this [environmental issues].

There's so many other concerns... Turkish people face, especially, more working class families, that even if they are having some sort of environmental harm in what they do day to day, they can't even, like, begin to correct it because they have, to them, at least, more immediate concerns.

Sloam (2020) found similar results among young Londoners. He argued that for these young people, environmental challenges are less tangible and less immediate than other economic and social aspects, such as financial stability and job security (Sloam 2020: 5). Research focusing on the effects of the severe economic crisis in Greece on people's environmental attitudes, suggests that environmental issues became a lower priority for people compared to the period before the economic crisis and economic stability became a top concern (Papoulis et al. 2015: 716). Surprisingly, economic crises can have (unconscious) positive effects on people's pro-environmental behavior (Ivlevs 2019: 295). To limit expenses, people may use

resources more consciously and for example limit water and energy usage (ibid.). The people I interviewed however, mainly mentioned negative effects on proenvironmental behavior due to the economic crisis. As an example they pointed out that people are buying cheap and unsustainable products because they cannot afford to buy more durable products that are more pricey. One participant argued that because of hyperinflation it is better to buy material products, because this is worth more than saving money, which in turn encourages unsustainable consumption.

As the economic crisis has a very direct impact on the people I interviewed, some people became quite emotional. The economic crisis became a symbol for broader frustration and challenges the participants face, growing up in Türkiye.

I don't blame myself for being negative because right now in Turkey...we're losing our colors, and we are losing our beliefs. Because everything is happening all at once, and we're so tired.

We don't have the money here. We don't have justice here. We don't have the well, we don't have the tiniest opportunity to develop ourselves. So that's... why we don't care about anything other than our money and our sustainability... And, yes, it's heartbreaking, but we don't have any choice... I think I'm going to cry.

The examples show that the country's financial crisis takes up a lot of mental space and energy of the participants and this leads to frustrations. Interestingly, while the main focus of the interviews was centered around environmental issues, the discussions often led to broader frustrations and challenges the participants face. Participants link their environmental attitudes very clearly to their country-specific context and growing up in Türkiye. Inglehart's (1971) postmaterialist argument is exemplified by the participants responses. The economic insecurity in Türkiye creates more immediate concerns among the young participants, and most participants feel that they, and other people in their country, don't have the energy to deal with other complicated issues. For the participants, economic and social stability is thus an important determinant for pro-environmental behavior.

## Political Challenges

Besides the economic crisis, politics was a topic often brought up by the participants. As one participant explained, not only individuals but also the Turkish government has other priorities than environmental issues. The government is dealing with several large societal problems.

[The] government has different priorities than environmental concerns, for example economic crisis, fixing the earthquake aftermath and immigration issues.

Tienhaara (2010: 197) explains that facing multiple crises in a country is challenging, but it is sometimes used as an excuse by governments to not focus on environmental challenges. She argues that it would be more beneficial to look at the interconnection between multiple crises and find multilayered solutions that tackle these crises together (ibid.). According to the participants this is currently missing in Turkish politics.

Some participants were not aware of any governmental action to address environmental problems and therefore argued that the government does not prioritize the environment.

I don't think there are any measurements about sustainability in Turkey or in general in Ankara and I don't think I have thought about sustainability and climate change in general for like years for now because, you know, they don't care about these kind of topics in Turkey.

Like, I don't think the government does anything for it because we've never heard of any action... But I feel like if they did something, they would be promoted... If we don't know anything, they don't do anything.

It is interesting that Erdoğan is trying to portray himself as more environmental-friendly, for example by introducing a national tree planting day (Kurtiç 2022: 1; Özen 2022: 7), but that his efforts have not reached the participants. Other participants were more critical of the underlying incentives of the government that influence their approach towards sustainability. Corruption was mentioned as one of the concerns, because through corruption it is easier to bypass environmental rules and regulations.

It's always been about stealing what the people have [talking about natural areas], selling it for a profit to companies, and then most of that money, I'm betting at least 60, 70% of that money goes into the pockets of the politicians, their campaigns, you know.

Ironically this participant argues that the government is 'stealing' from the people, while Erdoğan positions himself as the beneficiary of the people. As another participant explained, corruption is not only controversial, but it also negatively affects the natural areas in Türkiye.

The lack of environmental awareness and policies is very much due to just politics... Like, the government works really closely with construction lobbies... So most lands and large areas of forests or natural preservation sites that the government seizes and protects legally, after a certain point, I think they open it up for bidding, and then they sell it to one of the few largest companies for construction. And they build hotels and things, and it's usually filled with a bunch of corruption or controversies. So I think political corruption needs to be cleaned up first to do any actual, like, environmental change because there's no real incentive for environmental preservation or just improvement in general.

According to these participants, the government is more interested in financial gain than the preservation of natural areas in Türkiye. A study on among Malaysian youth shows similar results as they argue that corruption is a big problem in their

country, which limits environmental behavior (Ahmad et al. 2012). In Türkiye, issues of corruption were also mentioned in regard to the environmental law system.

They [environmental laws] are very good, but they are not enforced. But that's not the problem just for environmental law. It's just the overall problem of our law and how it works, our institutions. So, I mean, if you want... to have a better application of environmental law, we first need to fix our problems with our law institutions and their independence from government, third parties, organizations, and companies.

Corruption and an ineffective and unfair law system are indicators of low Quality of Government as defined by Rothstein and Teorell (2008). This not only challenges sustainable government actions, as the participants showed, but it also challenges the government's credibility. Most participants expressed great distrust in the government and their attitudes towards more sustainable behavior. They expressed that they feel like the government is not doing anything significant to deal with environmental degradation. Participants argued that they simply "don't care". This is in line with literature on the Quality of Government and people's trust in their government; as people have no faith in their governments they become reluctant to take individual action too (Franzen and Vogl 2013; Johansson Sevä and Kulin 2018; Kulin and Johansson Sevä 2021: 733; Tam and Chan 2017).

This feeling of distrust is also exemplified by participants' attitudes towards recycling. Although some participants, as mentioned earlier, recycled, a majority of the participants were skeptical of the Turkish recycling system. Household recycling levels in Türkiye are low in general, and the system is seen as inconsistent and ineffective (Umut and Velioğlu 2024: 2).

But we don't for example, we don't recycle...you just have one trash and then they take that. Even if you recycle it, sometimes they don't separate.

So I can't say I recycle because no one actually believes it really. It's not actually taken somewhere else in most people's minds, so they don't see a point in recycling if it's gonna be taken to the same place anyways... I mean, I can't tell you if it's true or not, but I think most of the recycling probably goes in with the trash at the same place, but it's just different bins. Like, I don't really think the municipal government really separates it as much.

These examples show that for most participants recycling is merely symbolic, and not executed properly. It therefore feels useless to participate in recycling. These perceptions were mainly based on rumors, and participants were not completely sure if and how the recycling system in Türkiye works. Ojala (2008: 789), found that Swedish youth were also reluctant to recycle, because they did not trust the efficiency of the recycling system in their country. Similarly, research on different recycling behaviors in EU countries, showed that people who had trust in their institutions, and thus their national recycling system, were more likely to participate in recycling (Pronti and Zoboli 2024).

Although some literature suggests that little trust in one's government can increase pro-environmental behavior (Franzen and Vogl 2013; Torgler et al. 2011), no examples hereof were given during the interviews. I therefore argue that the Turkish political context limits participant's willingness to engage in individual pro-environmental behavior.

#### **Environmental Activism**

One participant expressed that young people don't feel heard by the government: "I don't think the government or maybe the president, are interested in our wishes". This challenges feelings of agency and limits participants' engagement in public actions. None of the participants engaged in climate activism and people explained that under the current government, climate activism, or any form of activism, is difficult. These answers fit well with the literature on environmental activism under authoritarian regimes, showing that authoritarian regimes challenge any form of counter-narrative and respond aggressively to every form of critique and activism

(Middeldorp and Le Billon 2019; Ofstehage et al. 2022: 1, 3; Özen 2022). Criminalization, discrimination and incarceration are often-used tactics to silence environmental activists (Scheidel et al. 2020: 4). Several participants referred to the Gezi protests of 2013 to show the complexity of activism in Türkiye.

In 2013 one of the largest protests in Turkey, the Gezi protest [took place]. It started out over the destruction of a traditional and very historic central park and very rooted trees and environment... And they were going to bulldoze over it to build new homes or whatever. And that was the initial spark for that protest, it was completely environment based and then turned into other governmental issues of inequalities, racism, sexism, you know, overall, like, class based issues.

The Gezi protests marked the start of Erdoğan's authoritarian approach, which makes protesting an even more sensitive topic (Özen 2022 1, 5).

We had a rivalry back in 2013 just to save trees... This governmental outlook on this is very ideological, I think. They don't really care about environment, but now it turned into a rebellious thing to preserve green.

One participant explained that activism therefore, has shifted more to social media.

On social media, there's constant protests... there's a lot of Turkish... private information pages... because no one really trusts news sources as much. Most of them are tied to the government. And they wouldn't talk about environmental issues anyways. So... private... individuals develop their own news sources...And private citizens try to protect the environment or... animals or children...trying to get some sort of justice pushed through social media.

As research on Russia and China suggests, news sources in authoritarian regimes are often used for propaganda-purpose to strengthen political power (Alyukov 2023: 527; Chang 2021: 793). Social media and other digital news sources have been used as well by authoritarian regimes to spread and manipulate information in their favor (ibid.). At the same time, social media allows for access to alternative sources of information and perspectives (Alyukov 2023). Research suggests that social media therefore plays a crucial role in activism under authoritarian regimes and has created new spaces to share counter-narratives and criticism (Golkar 2015; Lee 2018; Sika 2019; Yabancı 2021). But activism in any form is difficult in an authoritarian context and limits the establishment of a strong environmental activist network, which is important to both motivate governments and individuals to act more environmentally friendly.

Interestingly, when discussing the topic of activism, people again explained that there are more pressing topics in Türkiye on which activism is focused. Mainly feminist struggles were mentioned as an urgent topic in Turkish activism.

I know there's a lot more activist groups on those [women's rights] because... femicide has been... a major issue in Turkey for, I think, pretty much a couple decades. It's always been an issue, but it's been rising, again, because justice is not served usually. And... women... domestic abuse rates are rising and murders are happening more frequently, and then the killers are just set free or nothing happens.

As the examples show, the participants don't perceive environmental issues as a top priority, nor do they think other people in Türkiye prioritize environmental challenges, because there are other issues that feel more immediate and urgent in people's everyday life. This is not to say that the participants think it should not be a priority and are not aware of the future consequences environmental issues may have. As one participant sums it up very accurately:

I hope we can talk about... sustainability and protest for it one day because that would mean... all of our other problems are gone.

Interestingly, some participants were a bit more critical about climate activism in general (not specifically in Türkiye). They argued that climate activism is important, but that the way it is done now is counter productive. Participants referred to the activists who threw soup at the Mona Lisa, or blocked highways to protest, and argued that these actions frustrate people rather than create awareness.

*I think they're targeting the wrong audience with wrong methods.* 

One participant explained that many people get frustrated by climate activists and it becomes associated with elitism.

[There is] this assumption of these environmental issues and this awareness situation being...part of this intellectual group...And when you're trying to explain this [environmental issue], it's like you're trying to belittle them...it became [associated with] that very high privileged awareness.

As a response, she explains, people reject environmentalism and don't want to hear about it.

You tend to hear also: Oh, okay enough with this. We're all doomed. What can we do? ... So let's just stop talking about it... There is this new trend of refusing all of this becoming this cool thing to do... Like, I'm gonna keep eating meat. "You do whatever."

This hostile attitude towards environmentalism has become a popular research topic, and Feygina et al. (2010: 326) show that this attitude often comes from a fear of changing the status-quo and one's known way of living. Similarly, environmentalism is often associated with elitism and perceived to be only relevant to rich and highly-educated people, who have the time and resources to be concerned with it (Huber 2020: 964). This narrative, in turn, fits perfectly with Erdoğan's right-wing populist rhetoric claiming that environmentalists are the

elitist enemy of the people (Özen 2022). Although these insights are interesting, I want to be careful not to generalize, as these quotes do not reflect the perception of people who actually hold strong anti-environmental stances, but rather the perception of the participants about these people.

I want to highlight that this argument is not only used in right-wing populist narratives but also by environmental justice scholars. They refer to it as the 'privilege of concern' and argue that rich and middle-class communities have the privilege to be concerned with issues that go beyond their own survival (Chhokar et al. 2011: 1185, 1186). From this point of view, not participating in proenvironmental behavior is not linked to conservatism per se, but also to privilege and opportunities to be concerned.

### Türkiye versus the West

Several participants compared the situation in Türkiye to Western countries. They argued that Western countries are more stable and that it is therefore easier to think about and act upon environmental challenges in these countries.

I'm trying to survive here. So, that's [environmental concerns] the least important of my problems here. But I don't know if... I was a student or I was an individual in like, a more social democratic country [talking about Scandinavia], maybe I could be more aware of what the world in general [is] doing with or how they are dealing with this kind of environmental stuff.

It seems to me like in the Netherlands or in places more to the north, you guys seem to be more aware because you have a systematic way of living. It appears to us. I don't know. But here, it's more like we have other issues.

Some participants thus romanticized other countries and thought that their own environmental attitudes could be different in another country-context. This romanticizing of Western countries aligns with what Harris (2014: 807) calls "the internalization of...Orientalist tropes". By this she means that Turkish people

themselves portray Türkiye negatively in comparison to the 'calm and organized' West (ibid.). Harris (2014: 808) found out that a lot of Turkish people idealize Western environmental approaches, and that a lot of these sentiments relate to the availability of green spaces. Western countries are associated with a lot of green spaces, while Türkiye lacks such spaces. This was also a theme that came up during the interviews I conducted. One participant lived in France for some time and she compared the green spaces there to Türkiye.

While living in Paris, it was another capital, we had those big gardens. I call them breathing rooms. In terms of architecture every city needs a breathing room. You have to be in touch with nature. And while living in one of the busiest cities, it's very hectic, it's very crowded, you can always escape to a garden. And I think that also gives an awareness of this nature feeling because you're in touch with it ... But in Turkey, it's the complete opposite... here, we don't see nature enough.

The participant thus explained that being in touch with nature is really important, not only for one's mental wellbeing but also to create a feeling of connection with nature. She later mentioned that the disconnect between humans and nature, particularly in an urban setting, may create unsustainable behavior. Studies show that green spaces in urban areas indeed have positive effects on the environment such as taking up CO2 from the air, but also on the wellbeing of residents (Lee et al. 2015). Additionally, more time spent outdoors in natural areas increases feelings of connectedness to nature and a willingness to act pro-environmentally (DeVille et al. 2021). In Norway, for example, outdoor activities are an integrated part of the culture, and thus children from a young age are able to engage with nature (Gurholt 2014). Research among youth in Norway shows that their childhood experiences in nature, positively shaped their feelings of connectedness to and care for the natural world (ibid.). Although there are some parks in Ankara, green spaces in general are limited.

There are more buildings than parks [in Ankara]. And it is terrible because we don't have special natural areas, or green fields.

A report on the possibility of creating more green spaces in Ankara, shows that this is difficult to implement (Kulińska and Dendera-Gruszka 2019: 250). The city is struggling with its spatial capacities, and particularly the growing influx of people challenges urban planning in the city (ibid.). Ironically, in 2014 Erdoğan built his palace in the Atatürk Orman Çiftli, a former forest reserve (BBC 2014). He cut hundreds of trees to clear the land for this megalomaniac building project (ibid.). This project created lots of controversy, not only politically but also environmentally (ibid.)

Most participants linked environmental attitudes in Türkiye to political struggles and they argue that these underlying issues need to be fixed first, before people can and want to think about environmental problems. And as abovementioned examples show, a greening of the urban built environment might be valuable too.

### Frustration, Fear, Love and Care

The aim of this research has been to get a better understanding of environmental awareness, concerns and pro-environmental behavior in the daily lives of Turkish urban youth. From the interviews it became clear that the young people I talked to are aware of environmental degradation. Particularly local environmental challenges that they experienced in their daily lives were mentioned. Several participants expressed emotions of sadness, fear and hopelessness with regards to the future of the natural environment, which shows that these participants are not only aware of the issue but also concerned.

Some participants translated their concerns into individual pro-environmental behavior, such as making conscious consumer choices and limiting waste. These participants created a form of agency by taking small actions in their daily lives. Most participants, however, did not actively engage in pro-environmental behavior. They felt that their individual actions are not effective, unless structural changes are made. Their lack of action does not simply come from apathy, but rather stems from a feeling of being overwhelmed. The participants were not only overwhelmed by the vastness of environmental challenges but also by the economic and political challenges Türkiye currently faces. The economic crisis puts a heavy burden on people, and the government does not provide any incentives to act sustainably. Most participants had little trust in the government and its ability and willingness to take sustainable action. According to them, the government does not care about the environment and is instead more concerned with strengthening power and financial gains. The young people I interviewed expressed that they don't feel heard and protesting in Türkiye is challenging, which also discourages participants from taking public action.

The participants stressed that they have different, more immediate priorities and concerns in their daily lives, which creates a disconnect between their environmental awareness, concern and pro-environmental behavior. These results fit into research showing that environmental awareness and concern does not automatically lead to pro-environmental behavior. Similarly, exposure to the effects

of environmental degradation does not guarantee a change in behavior. Even though environmental degradation has material impacts, they are still easier to put aside than economic, day-to-day survival issues for these Turkish youth. The political and economic context in which these young people grow up thus play an important role in shaping their environmental awareness, concerns and pro-environmental behavior.

Even though every country provides a unique context for analysis, the results of this research had some striking similarities to findings among young people in different parts of the world. Many young people, while transitioning to adulthood, are occupied with other concerns, such as getting a good education, finding a proper job and housing, and economic stability. Similarly, a majority of young people have little trust in individual behavior change. Although it is extremely important to demand systematic and large-scale changes from governments, it can easily become an excuse to detach oneself from individual responsibility and agency or it may cause eco-paralysis.

This research mainly identified barriers for Turkish urban youth to translate their environmental awareness and concern into action. It is important to continue research on this topic to explore potential solutions to these barriers, because young people play a vital role in shaping our future. Scholars can help translating these outcomes to youth organizations, policy makers, governments and educational institutions, both in Türkiye and beyond, to create a context where young people feel heard and encouraged to take environmental action. Fostering hope among young people is a powerful tool herein, as Ojala (2008) points out.

During the interviews often broader themes of frustration and discontent came up, and some participants were openly critical of the political and economic state of Türkiye. At the same time, I want to point out that most participants also told me that they did not want to give an all-negative view of their country. One participant said that she did not mean to "bash" her country. Another participant felt a bit sad for only being critical as she said: "I really love my country and its people". It is important to stress that for the participants feelings of frustration and fear, go hand

in hand with feelings of love and care for their country, and a longing for a bright, just, and sustainable future in which they can thrive.

# Bibliography

- Ahmad, Abdul Latiff, Samsudin A. Rahim, Latiffah Pawanteh, and Fauziah Ahmad. "The Understanding of Environmental Citizenship among Malaysian Youths: A Study on Perception and Participation." *Asian Social Science* 8, no. 5 (April 2012): 85-92. https://www.ccsenet.org/journal/index.php/ass/article/view/16028.
- Akbulut, Bengi and Fikret Adaman. "The Unbearable Appeal of Modernization: The Fetish of Growth." *Perspectives* 5 (January 2013): 14-17. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/291299562.
- Albrecht, Glenn. "Chronic Environmental Change: Emerging 'Psychoterratic' Syndromes." In *Climate Change and Human Well-Being*, edited by Inka Weissbecker, 43-56. New York, NY: Springer, 2011. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-9742-5\_3">https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-9742-5\_3</a>
- Alyukov, Maxim. "Harnessing Distrust: News, Credibility Heuristics, and War in an Authoritarian Regime." *Political Communication* 40, no. 5 (April 2023): 527–54. https://doi.org/10.1080/10584609.2023.2196951.
- Ardalı, Yüksel, Gamze Turan, and Nükhet Konuk. "Environmental Education in Turkey." In *Research Highlights in Education and Science 2016*, edited by Wenxia Wu, Selahattin Alan, and Mustafa T. Hebebci, 124-31. ISRES Publishing, 2016. <a href="https://www.isres.org/books/RHES\_08-05-2019.pdf">https://www.isres.org/books/RHES\_08-05-2019.pdf</a>.
- Arsel, Murat and Fikret Adaman. "Environmentalism without Environmentalists? Climate Change and the State in Turkey." *Environmental Policies in The Middle East and North Africa* 46 (May 2022): 60-63.

  <a href="https://pomeps.org/environmentalism-without-environmentalists-climate-change-and-the-state-in-turkey">https://pomeps.org/environmentalism-without-environmentalists-climate-change-and-the-state-in-turkey</a>.
- BBC. "Erdogan Presidential Palace Cost Soars for Turkey." *BBC*, November 5, 2014. https://www.bbc.com/news/world-europe-29912398.
- Bene, Marton. "Does Context Matter? A Cross-Country Investigation of the

- Effects of the Media Context on External and Internal Political Efficacy." *International Journal of Comparative Sociology* 61, no. 4 (June 2020): 264–86. https://doi.org/10.1177/0020715220930065.
- Bergen, Nicole and Ronald Labonté. "Everything Is Perfect, and We Have No Problems": Detecting and Limiting Social Desirability Bias in Qualitative Research." *Qualitative Health Research* 30, no. 5 (April 2020): 783-92. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732319889354.
- Boulianne, Shelley and Jakob Ohme. "Pathways to Environmental Activism in Four Countries: Social Media, Environmental Concern, and Political Efficacy." *Journal of Youth Studies* 25, no. 6 (March 2022): 771-92. https://doi.org/10.1080/13676261.2021.2011845.
- Böhmelt, Tobias. "Populism and Environmental Performance." *Global Environmental Politics* 21, no. 3 (August 2021): 1-27. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1162/glep\_a\_00606">https://doi.org/10.1162/glep\_a\_00606</a>.
- Brand, Ulrich. "Green Economy the Next Oxymoron? No Lessons Learned from Failures of Implementing Sustainable Development." *GAIA* 21, no. 1 (March 2012): 28-32. <a href="https://doi.org/10.14512/gaia.21.1.9">https://doi.org/10.14512/gaia.21.1.9</a>.
- Buttigieg, Karen and Paul Pace. "Positive Youth Action Towards Climate Change." *Journal of Teacher Education for Sustainability* 15, no. 1 (July 2013): 15-47. <a href="https://doi.org/10.2478/jtes-2013-0002">https://doi.org/10.2478/jtes-2013-0002</a>.
- Çarkoğlu, Ali and Çiğdem Kentmen-Çin. "Economic Development, Environmental Justice, and pro-Environmental Behavior." *Environmental Politics* 24, no. 4 (April 2015): 575–97. https://doi.org/10.1080/09644016.2015.1023574.
- Carmi, Nurit and Sara Arnon. "The Role of Future Orientation in Environmental Behavior: Analyzing the Relationship on the Individual and Cultural Levels." *Society & Natural Resources* 27, no. 12 (August 2014): 1304–20. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/08941920.2014.928393">https://doi.org/10.1080/08941920.2014.928393</a>.
- Chang, Charles. "Information Credibility under Authoritarian Rule: Evidence from China." *Political Communication* 38, no. 6 (April 2021): 793–813. https://doi.org/10.1080/10584609.2021.1901806.

- Chhokar, Kiran, Shweta Dua, Neil Taylor, Edward Boyes, and Martin Stanisstreet. "Indian Secondary Students' Views About Global Warming: Beliefs About The Usefulness Of Actions And Willingness Ta Act."

  International Journal of Science and Mathematics Education 9 (October 2011): 1167–88. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10763-010-9254-z.
- Connell, Sharon, John Fien, Jenny Lee, Helen Sykes, and David Yencken. "If It Doesn't Directly Affect You, You Don't Think About It': A Qualitative Study of Young People's Environmental Attitudes in Two Australian Cities." *Environmental Education Research* 5, no. 1 (1999): 95–113. https://doi.org/10.1080/1350462990050106.
- Cypress, Brigitte S. "Qualitative Research the "What," "Why," "Who," and "How"!" *Dimensions of Critical Nursing* 34, no. 6 (November/December 2015): 356-61.

  <a href="https://journals.lww.com/dccnjournal/fulltext/2015/11000/Qualitative\_Research\_The\_What, Why, Who, .9.aspx.">https://journals.lww.com/dccnjournal/fulltext/2015/11000/Qualitative\_Research\_The\_What, Why, Who, .9.aspx.</a>
- Daadaoui, Latifa and Sahar Saoud. "Understanding the Determinants of Ecological Behavior of Young Moroccans." International Journal of Information Research and Review 4 (December 2017): 4764-70. https://www.ijirr.com/sites/default/files/issues-pdf/2396.pdf.
- Demir, Sertif. "The Evolution of Environmentalism in Turkey." *Middle East Policy* 29, no. 4 (2022): 133-45. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/mepo.12660">https://doi.org/10.1111/mepo.12660</a>.
- Demir, Vedat. "Freedom of the Media in Turkey Under the AKP Government." In *Human Rights in Turkey Assaults on Human Dignity*, edited by Hasan Aydin and Winston Langley, 51-88. Springer, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-57476-5\_3.
- DeVille, Nicole V., Linda Powers Tomasso, Olivia P. Stoddard, Grete E. Wilt, Teresa H. Horton, Kathleen L. Wolf, Eric Brymer, Peter H. Kahn, and Peter James. "Time Spent in Nature Is Associated with Increased Pro-Environmental Attitudes and Behaviors." *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health* 18, no. 14 (July 2021): 1-18. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18147498">https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18147498</a>.

- Dimitrova, Anastazija, Antonín Vaishar, and Milada Šťastná. "Preparedness of Young People for a Sustainable Lifestyle: Awareness and Willingness." *Sustainability* 13, no. 13 (June 2021): 1-20. https://doi.org/10.3390/su13137204.
- Dodds, Joseph. "The Psychology of Climate Anxiety." *BJPsych Bulletin* 45 (August 2021): 222–26.

  https://www.researchgate.net/publication/351688297.
- Dubel, Anna and Bas Kaan. "Social Perceptions and Attitudes towards Climate Change in Poland and in Turkey." *Opole* 17, no. 4 (December 2017): 1187-1201. <a href="https://doi.org/10.25167/ees.2017.44.35">https://doi.org/10.25167/ees.2017.44.35</a>.
- Dunlap, Riley E. and William Michelson, W. *Handbook of Environmental Sociology*. Westport, CT: Greenwood Press, 2002.
- Elliot, Larry. "How Serious is Turkey's Lira Crisis and What Are the Implications?" *The Guardian*, August 13, 2018.

  <a href="https://www.theguardian.com/world/2018/aug/13/how-serious-is-turkeys-lira-crisis-and-what-are-the-implications">https://www.theguardian.com/world/2018/aug/13/how-serious-is-turkeys-lira-crisis-and-what-are-the-implications</a>.
- Erdogan, Emre and Pınar Uyan-Semerci. "Rural NEETs in Turkey: 2009/2019

  Overview." COST CA18213 (December 2020): 1-36.

  <a href="https://rnyobservatory.eu/web/National-Reports/NR-TURKEY-09-19.pdf">https://rnyobservatory.eu/web/National-Reports/NR-TURKEY-09-19.pdf</a>.
- Feygina, Irina, John T. Jost, and Rachel E. Goldsmith. "System Justification, the Denial of Global Warming, and the Possibility of "System-Sanctioned Change"." *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin* 36, no. 3 (March 2010): 326-38. https://doi.org/10.1080/23251042.2018.1488516.
- Fien, John, Irene Teh-Cheong Poh Ai, David Yencken, Helen Sykes, and David Treagust. "Youth Environmental Attitudes in Australia and Brunei: Implications for Education." *The Environmentalist* 22 (September 2002): 205–16. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1016571526997">https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1016571526997</a>.
- Franzen, Axel and Dominikus Vogl. "Two Decades of Measuring Environmental Attitudes: A Comparative Analysis of 33 Countries." *Global Environmental Change* 23, no. 5 (October 2013): 1001–08.

  <a href="https://www.researchgate.net/publication/259138314\_Two\_Decades\_of\_">https://www.researchgate.net/publication/259138314\_Two\_Decades\_of\_</a>

- Measuring Environmental Attitudes A Comparative Analysis of 33 C ountries.
- Galletta, Anna. Mastering the Semi-Structured Interview and Beyond: From Research Design to Analysis and Publication. NYU Press, 2013. https://www.jstor.org/stable/j.ctt9qgh5x.
- Gärtner, Lea and Harald Schoen. "Experiencing Climate Change: Revisiting the Role of Local Weather in Affecting Climate Change Awareness and Related Policy Preferences." *Climatic Change* 167, no. 31 (August 2021): 1-20. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-021-03176-z">https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-021-03176-z</a>.
- Gifford, Robert and Andreas Nilsson. "Personal and Social Factors that Influence pro-Environmental Concern and Behaviour: A Review." *International Journal of Psychology* 49, no. 3 (June 2014): 141-57. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/ijop.12034">https://doi.org/10.1002/ijop.12034</a>.
- Godden, Naomi, Brad M. Farrant, Jaime Yallup Farrant, Emma Heyink, Eva Carot Collins, Bella Burgemeister, Mena Tabeshfar, Jason Barrow, Mara West, Jasmine Kieft *et al.* "Climate Change, Activism, and Supporting the Mental Health of Children and Young People: Perspectives from Western Australia." *Journal of Paediatrics and Child Health* 57, no. 11 (November 2021): 1759-64. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/jpc.15649">https://doi.org/10.1111/jpc.15649</a>.
- Golkar, Saeid. "Student Activism, Social Media and Authoritarian Rule in Iran". In *The WholeWorld is Texting*, edited by Irving Epstein, 61-79. Leiden: Brill, 2015.
  - https://brill.com/view/book/edcoll/9789463000550/BP000005.xm.
- Gong, Byoung-gyu and Yi Zheng. "More is Not Always Better: A Study of Country-level Factors Associated with Adolescents' Environmental Attitudes Using a Multilevel Analysis of PISA 2006." *Education Policy Analysis Archives* 29, no. 125 (September 2021): 1-22. https://doi.org/10.14507/epaa.29.4846.
- Gonzalez, Carmen G. "Environmental Justice, Human Rights, and the Global South." *Santa Clara Journal of International Law* 13, no. 1 (February 2015): 151-95. https://digitalcommons.law.scu.edu/scujil/vol13/iss1/8.

- Gottlieb, Roger S. "Religious Environmentalism: What it Is, Where it's Heading and Why We Should be Going in the Same Direction." *Journal for the Study of Religion, Nature and Culture* 1, no. 1 (April 2007): 81-91. https://doi.org/10.1558/jsrnc.v1i1.81.
- Guba, Egon G. and Lincoln, Yvonna S. "Competing Paradigms in Qualitative Research." In *Handbook of Qualitative Research*, edited by Norman K. Denzin and Yvonna S. Lincoln, 105-17. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage, 1994. https://api.semanticscholar.org/CorpusID:54052490.
- Gurholt, Kirsti Pedersen. "Joy of Nature, Friluftsliv Education and Self:

  Combining Narrative and Cultural Ecological Approaches to

  Environmental Sustainability." *Journal of Adventure Education and Outdoor Learning* 14, no. 3 (September 2014): 233–46.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/14729679.2014.948802">https://doi.org/10.1080/14729679.2014.948802</a>.
- Harris, Leila M. "Imaginative Geographies of Green: Difference, Postcoloniality, and Affect in Environmental Narratives in Contemporary Turkey."

  Annals of the Association of American Geographers 104, no. 4 (July 2014): 801-15. https://www.jstor.org/stable/24537595.
- Harvey, Steven A. "Observe Before you Leap: Why Observation Provides Critical Insights for Formative Research and Intervention Design That You'll Never Get from Focus Groups, Interviews, or KAP Surveys." *Global Health: Science and Practice* 6, no. 3 (June 2018): 299-316. <a href="https://doi.org/10.9745/GHSP-D-18-00360">https://doi.org/10.9745/GHSP-D-18-00360</a>.
- Henn, Matt, James Sloam, and Ana Nunes. "Young Cosmopolitans and Environmental Politics: How Postmaterialist Values Inform and Shape Youth Engagement in Environmental Politics." *Journal of Youth Studies* 25, no.6 (November 2022): 709-29. https://doi.org/10.1080/13676261.2021.1994131.
- Hess, Tobias. ""Gen Z Will Save Us:" Applauded and Dismissed as a Gen Z Climate Activist (Perspective from the Field)." *Journal of Applied Research on Children* 12, no. 1 (2021): 1-5. https://doi.org/10.58464/2155-5834.1455.

- Huber, Robert A. "The Role of Populist Attitudes in Explaining Climate Change Skepticism and Support for Environmental Protection." *Environmental Politics* 29, no. 6 (2020): 959-82. https://doi.org/10.1080/09644016.2019.1708186.
- Islar, Mine. "Privatised Hydropower Development in Turkey: A Case of Water Grabbing?" *Water Alternatives* 5, no. 2 (2012): 376-91.

  <a href="https://portal.research.lu.se/en/publications/privatised-hydropower-development-in-turkey-a-case-of-water-grabb">https://portal.research.lu.se/en/publications/privatised-hydropower-development-in-turkey-a-case-of-water-grabb</a>.
- Inglehart, Ronald. "The Silent Revolution in Europe: Intergenerational Change in Post-Industrial Societies." *American Political Science Review* 65, no. 4 (1971): 991–1017. https://doi.org/10.2307/1953494.
- Inglehart, Ronald. "Public Support for Environmental Protection: Objective Problems and Subjective Values in 43 Societies." *Political Science and Politics* 28, no. 1 (March 1995): 57-72. https://doi.org/10.2307/420583.
- Ivlevs, Artjoms. "Adverse Welfare Shocks and Pro-Environmental Behavior: Evidence from the Global Economic Crisis." *Review of Income and Wealth* 65, no. 2 (June 2019): 293-311. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/roiw.12355">https://doi.org/10.1111/roiw.12355</a>.
- Janmaimool, Piyapong and Surapong Chudech. "Effect of Domestic and Global Environmental Events on Environmental Concern and Environmental Responsibility among University Students." *Sustainability* 12, no. 4 (January 2020): 1-20. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/su12041610">https://doi.org/10.3390/su12041610</a>.
- Johansson Sevä, Ingemar and Joakim Kulin. "A Little More Action, Please:
  Increasing the Understanding about Citizens' Lack of Commitment to
  Protecting the Environment in Different National Contexts." *International Journal of Sociology* 48, no. 4 (September 2018): 314–39.
  https://doi.org/10.1080/00207659.2018.1515703.
- Keypour, Javad. "Unpacking the 2023 Turkish Election's Implications for Environmental Policy: Time for a Path Change?" *SEI*, June 21, 2023. <a href="https://www.sei.org/perspectives/2023-turkish-elections-implications-environmental-policy/">https://www.sei.org/perspectives/2023-turkish-elections-implications-environmental-policy/</a>.

- Khalid, Fazlun. "Islam and the Environment Ethics and Practice an Assessment." *Religion Compass* 4, no. 11 (November 2010): 707–16. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-8171.2010.00249.x">https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-8171.2010.00249.x</a>.
- Kitanova, Magdelina. "Youth Political Participation in the EU: Evidence from a Cross-national Analysis." *Journal of Youth Studies* 23, no.7 (2020): 1-19. https://doi.org/10.1080/13676261.2019.1636951.
- Kleinberg, Scott and Anne H. Toomey. "The Use of Qualitative Research to Better Understand Public Opinions on Climate Change." *Journal of Environmental Studies and Sciences* 13 (June 2023): 367–75. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13412-023-00841-w.
- Kollmuss, Anja, and Julian Agyeman. "Mind the Gap: Why Do People Act Environmentally and What Are the Barriers to pro-Environmental Behavior?" *Environmental Education Research* 8, no. 3 (July 2002): 239–60. https://doi.org/10.1080/13504620220145401.
- Koulouriotis, Joanna. "Ethical Considerations in Conducting Research with Nonnative Speakers of English." *TESL Canada Journal* 28, no. 1 (September 2011): 1-15. <a href="https://doi.org/10.18806/tesl.v28i0.1078">https://doi.org/10.18806/tesl.v28i0.1078</a>.
- Kulin, Joakim, and Ingemar Johansson Sevä. "The Role of Government in Protecting the Environment: Quality of Government and the Translation of Normative Views about Government Responsibility into Spending Preferences." *International Journal of Sociology* 49, no. 2 (May 2019): 110–29. https://doi.org/10.1080/00207659.2019.1582964.
- Kulińska, Ewa and Małgorzata Dendera-Gruszka. "Green Cities Problems and Solutions in Turkey." *Transportation Research Procedia* 39 (2019): 242-51. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trpro.2019.06.026">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trpro.2019.06.026</a>.
- Kurtiç, Ekin. "Criminalizing Environmental Activism in Turkey." *Middle East Brief* 147 (2022): 1-10.

  <a href="https://www.brandeis.edu/crown/publications/middle-east-briefs/pdfs/101-200/meb147.pdf">https://www.brandeis.edu/crown/publications/middle-east-briefs/pdfs/101-200/meb147.pdf</a>.
- Lee, Andrew Chee Keng, Hannah C. Jordan, and Jason Horsley. "Value of Urban

- Green Spaces in Promoting Healthy Living and Wellbeing: Prospects for Planning." *Risk Management and Healthcare Policy* 8 (2015): 131–37. http://dx.doi.org/10.2147/RMHP.S61654.
- Lee, Ashley. "Invisible Networked Publics and Hidden Contention: Youth Activism and Social Media Tactics under Repression." *New Media & Society* 20, no.11 (November 2018): 4095-115. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444818768063.
- Lee, Katharine, Nathalia Gjersoe, Saffron O'Neill, and Julie Barnett. "Youth Perceptions of Climate Change: A Narrative Synthesis." *WIREs Climate Change* 11, no. 3 (May/June 2020): 1-24. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.641">https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.641</a>.
- Lertzman, Renee A. "The Myth of Apathy. Psychoanalytic Explorations of Environmental Subjectivities." In Engaging with Climate Change:

  Psychoanalytic and Interdisciplinary Perspectives, edited by Sally Weintrobe, 117-133. Sussex: Routledge, 2013.

  https://books.google.se/books?hl=en&lr=&id=A83XG\_O0RSkC&oi=fnd &pg=PA117&dq=climate+apathy+myth&ots=KWdt\_u1IOo&sig=QGnaC yDzxTfe6OoI4TlKbdIBjtA&redir\_esc=y#v=onepage&q=climate%20apat hy%20myth&f=false.
- Lockwood, Matthew. "Right-wing Populism and the Climate Change Agenda: Exploring the Linkages." Accepted Manuscript (June 2018): 1-37. <a href="http://hdl.handle.net/10871/33169">http://hdl.handle.net/10871/33169</a>.
- MacDonald, William L. and Naoto Hara. "Gender Differences in Environmental Concern among College Students." *Sex Roles* 31 (September 1994): 369–74. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01544595.
- McCarthy, James. "Authoritarianism, Populism, and the Environment:

  Comparative Experiences, Insights, and Perspectives." *Annals of the American Association of Geographers* 109, no. 2 (February 2019): 301-13. https://doi.org/10.1080/24694452.2018.1554393.
- McKernan, Bethan. "Turkish Students Increasingly Resisting Religion, Study

- Suggests." *The Guardian*, April 29, 2020. https://www.theguardian.com/world/2020/apr/29/turkish-students-increasingly-resisting-religion-study-suggests.
- Michaelson, Ruth and Deniz Barış Narlı. "Turkey's War with Inflation: 'Prices Change Daily and Everyone Is Scared'." *The Guardian*, April 16, 2022. <a href="https://www.theguardian.com/business/2022/apr/16/turkeys-war-with-inflation-prices-change-daily-and-everyone-is-scared">https://www.theguardian.com/business/2022/apr/16/turkeys-war-with-inflation-prices-change-daily-and-everyone-is-scared</a>.
- Michaelson, Ruth and Ayça Aldatmaz. "Turkey's Opposition Party Sweeps to Local Elections Victory in Snub to Erdoğan." *The Guardian*, April 1, 2024. <a href="https://www.theguardian.com/world/2024/mar/31/turkey-local-elections-istanbul-mayor-ekrem-imamoglu-recep-tayyip-erdogan.">https://www.theguardian.com/world/2024/mar/31/turkey-local-elections-istanbul-mayor-ekrem-imamoglu-recep-tayyip-erdogan.</a>
- Middeldorp, Nick and Philippe Le Billon. "Deadly Environmental Governance:

  Authoritarianism, Eco-populism, and the Repression of Environmental and Land Defenders." *Annals of the American Association of Geographers* 109, no. 2 (February 2019): 324-37.

  https://doi.org/10.1080/24694452.2018.1530586.
- Mifsud, Mark. "Maltese Youth and the Environment: A Qualitative Study." *Journal of Teacher Education for Sustainability* 12, no. 2 (February 2011): 110-29. https://doi.org/10.2478/v10099-009-0058-6.
- Monroe, Martha C., Richard R. Plate, Annie Oxarart, Alison Bowers, and Willandia A. Chaves. "Identifying Effective Climate Change Education Strategies: A Systematic Review of the Research." *Environmental Education Research* 25, no. 6 (2019): 791–812. https://doi.org/10.1080/13504622.2017.1360842.
- Nash, Nick, Stuart Capstick, Lorraine Whitmarsh, Indra Chaudhary, and Rija Manandhar. "Perceptions of Local Environmental Issues and the Relevance of Climate Change in Nepal's Terai: Perspectives from Two Communities." *Frontiers in Sociology* 4, no. 60 (August 2019): 1-18. https://doi.org/10.3389/fsoc.2019.00060.
- van Nieuwenhuizen, Adrienne, Kelsey Hudson, Xiaoxuan Chen, and Alison R.

Hwong. "The Effects of Climate Change on Child and Adolescent Mental Health: Clinical Considerations." *Current Psychiatry Reports* 23, no. 88 (2021): 1-99.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s11920-021-01296-y.

- Nilan, Pam. "Muslim Youth Environmentalists in Indonesia." Journal of Youth Studies 24, no. 7 (June 2020): 925-40.

  <u>file:///C:/Users/jasmi/Downloads/IndonesianMuslimyouthandenvironment alism%20(1).pdf.</u>
- Ofstehage, Andrew, Wendy Wolford, and Saturnino M. Borras. "Contemporary Populism and the Environment." *Annual Review of Environmental Resources* 47 (March 2022): 1.1-1.26. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1146/annurevenviron-012220-124635">https://doi.org/10.1146/annurevenviron-012220-124635</a>.
- Ojala, Maria. "Recycling and Ambivalence: Quantitative and Qualitative Analyses of Household Recycling among Young Adults." *Environment and Behavior* 40, no. 6 (January 2008): 777–97. <a href="https://doiorg.ludwig.lub.lu.se/10.1177/0013916507308787">https://doiorg.ludwig.lub.lu.se/10.1177/0013916507308787</a>.
- Ojala, Maria. "Hope and Climate Change: The Importance of Hope for Environmental Engagement among Young People." *Environmental Education Research* 18, no. 5 (2012): 625–42. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/13504622.2011.637157">https://doi.org/10.1080/13504622.2011.637157</a>.
- Özen, Hayriye. "Interpellating 'The People' against Environmentalists: The Authoritarian Populist Response to Environmental Mobilizations in Turkey." *Political Geography* 97 (August 2022): 1-9. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polgeo.2022.102695">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polgeo.2022.102695</a>.
- Özler, Ş. İlgü and Brian K. Obach. "Cultural Barriers to Environmental Mobilization in the Republic of Turkey." *Sociological Perspectives* 62, no. 5 (October 2019): 773- 93. https://www.jstor.org/stable/10.2307/26967954.

Papoulis, Dimitrios, Dimitra Kaika, Christina Bampatsou, and Efthimios Zervas.

- "Public Perception of Climate Change in a Period of Economic Crisis." *Climate* 3, no. 3 (August 2015): 715-26. https://doi.org/10.3390/cli3030715.
- Paker, Hande. "Politicizing the Environment: The Ecological Crisis of Turkey." In *Turkey in Transition: Politics, society and foreign policy*, edited by Ebru Canan Sokullu. Berlin: Peter Lang Verlag, 2020.
- Peisker, Jonas. "Context Matters: The Drivers of Environmental Concern in European Regions." *Global Environmental Change* 79 (March 2023): 1-15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2023.102636.
- Pickering, Gary J., Kaylee Schoen, and Marta Botta. "Lifestyle Decisions and Climate Mitigation: Current Action and Behavioural Intent of Youth." *Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change* 26, no. 25 (July 2021): 1-27. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11027-021-09963-4.
- Pihkala, Panu. "A nxiety and the Ecological Crisis: An Analysis of Eco-Anxiety and Climate Anxiety." *Sustainability* 12, no. 19 (September 2020): 1-20. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12197836.
- Pincock, Kate, Nicola Jones, Lorraine van Blerk, and Nyaradzayi Gumbonzvanda. *Young People in the Global South. Voice, Agency and Citizenship.*London: Routledge, 2024. <a href="https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003341666">https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003341666</a>.
- Pisano, Ignacio and Mark Lubell. "Environmental Behavior in Cross-National Perspective: A Multilevel Analysis of 30 Countries." *Environment and Behavior* 49, no. 1 (January 2017): 31-58. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0013916515600494">https://doi.org/10.1177/0013916515600494</a>.
- Pronti, Andrea and Roberto Zoboli. "Institutional Quality, Trust in Institutions, and Waste Recycling Performance in the EU27." *Sustainability* 16, no. 2 (January 2024): 1-18. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/su16020892">https://doi.org/10.3390/su16020892</a>.
- Post, David and Yi Meng. "Does Schooling Foster Environmental Values and Action? A Cross-national Study of Priorities and Behaviors." *International Journal of Educational Development* 60 (May 2018): 10-18. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijedudev.2017.10.010">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijedudev.2017.10.010</a>.
- Rothstein, Bo and Jan Teorell. "What Is Quality of Government? A Theory of

- Impartial Government Institutions." *Governance* 21, no. 2 (April 2008): 165-90. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-0491.2008.00391.x">https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-0491.2008.00391.x</a>.
- Rousell, David, and Amy Cutter-Mackenzie-Knowles. "A Systematic Review of Climate Change Education: Giving Children and Young People a 'Voice' and a 'Hand' in Redressing Climate Change." *Children's Geographies* 18, no. 2 (2020): 191–208. https://doi.org/10.1080/14733285.2019.1614532.
- Scheidel, Arnim, Daniela Del Bene, Juan Liu, Grettel Navas, Sara Mingorría, Federico Demaria, Sofía Avila, Brototi Roy, Irmak Ertör, Leah Temper *et al.* "Environmental Conflicts and Defenders: A Global Overview." *Global Environmental Change* 63 (June 2020): 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2020.102104.
- Sika, Nadine. "Repression, Cooptation, and Movement Fragmentation in Authoritarian Regimes: Evidence from the Youth Movement in Egypt." *Political Studies* 67, no. 3 (August 2019): 676-92. https://doi.org/10.1177/0032321718795393.
- Sloam, James. "Young Londoners, Sustainability and Everyday Politics: the Framing of Environmental Issues in a Global City." *Sustainable Earth Reviews* 3, no. 14 (August 2020): 1-7. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/s42055-020-00036-z">https://doi.org/10.1186/s42055-020-00036-z</a>.
- Sloam, James, Sarah Pickard and Matt Henn. "Young People and Environmental Activism: The Transformation of Democratic Politics." *Journal of Youth Studies* 25, no. 16 (March 2022): 683-91. https://doi.org/10.1080/13676261.2022.2056678.
- Szagun, Gisela and Vladimir I. Pavlov. "Environmental Awareness. A

  Comparative Study of German and Russian Adolescents." *Youth & Society*27, no. 1 (September 1995): 93-112.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0044118X95027001006">https://doi.org/10.1177/0044118X95027001006</a>.
- Takács-Santa, András. "Barriers to Environmental Concern." *Human Ecology Review* 14, no. 1 (2007): 26-38. <a href="https://www.jstor.org/stable/24707641">https://www.jstor.org/stable/24707641</a>. Tam, Kim-Pong and Hoi-Wing Chan. "Environmental Concern Has a Weaker

- Association with pro-Environmental Behavior in Some Societies Than Others: A Cross-cultural Psychology Perspective." *Journal of Environmental Psychology* 53 (November 2017): 213-23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvp.2017.09.001.
- Taniguchi, Hiromi and Gul A. Marshall. "Trust, Political Orientation, and Environmental Behavior." *Environmental Politics* 27, no. 3 (January 2018): 385–410. https://doi.org/10.1080/09644016.2018.1425275.
- Tejada, Jacqueline, Stephanie Nisle, and Jeffrey M. Jenson. "Attitudes and Perceptions of Environmental Change among Youth Living in Public Housing." *Children, Youth and Environments* 30, no. 1 (2020): 83-100. <a href="https://doi.org/10.7721/chilyoutenvi.30.1.0083">https://doi.org/10.7721/chilyoutenvi.30.1.0083</a>.
- The Guardian. "Turkey Officially Changes Name at UN to Türkiye." *The Guardian*, June 3, 2022.

  <a href="https://www.theguardian.com/world/2022/jun/03/turkey-changes-name-to-turkiye-as-other-name-is-for-the-birds">https://www.theguardian.com/world/2022/jun/03/turkey-changes-name-to-turkiye-as-other-name-is-for-the-birds</a>.
- Tienhaara, Kyla. "A Tale of Two Crises: What the Global Financial Crisis Means for the Global Environmental Crisis." *Environmental Policy and Governance* 20, no. 3 (May 2010): 197-208.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/eet.537">https://doi.org/10.1002/eet.537</a>.
- Toivonen, Heidi. "Themes of Climate Change Agency: A Qualitative Study on How People Construct Agency in Relation to Climate Change."

  \*Humanities and Social Sciences Communication 9 (March 2022): 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1057/s41599-022-01111-w.
- Torgler, Benno, Maria García-Valiñas, and Alison Macintyre. "Participation in Environmental Organizations: An Empirical Analysis." *Environment and Development Economics* 16, no. 5 (March 2011): 591–620.

  www.jstor.org/stable/26265664.
- Trott, Carlie D. "Climate Change Education for Transformation: Exploring the Affective and Attitudinal Dimensions of Children's Learning and Action." *Environmental Education Research* 28, no. 7 (November 2022): 1023–42. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/13504622.2021.2007223">https://doi.org/10.1080/13504622.2021.2007223</a>.

- Turhana, Ethemcan and Arif C. Gündoğan. "The Post-politics of the Green Economy in Turkey: Re-claiming the Future?" *Journal of Political Ecology* 24, no. 1 (September 2017): 277-95. https://doi.org/10.2458/v24i1.20807.
- UNEP. "About the United Nations Environment Programme." Accessed February 14, 2024. <a href="https://www.unep.org/who-we-are/about">https://www.unep.org/who-we-are/about</a> us#:~:text=UNEP%20is%20driving%20transformational%20change,and%20biodiversity%20loss%20and%20pollution.
- Umut, Özbakır M. and Meltem N. Velioğlu. "A Recycling Story: Developing Recycling Behavior in Turkey with Social Marketing Program." *Journal of Public Affairs* 24, no. 1 (February 2024): 1-15. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/pa.2900">https://doi.org/10.1002/pa.2900</a>.
- Urberg, Linnea and Johan Öhman. "Resisting Sustainable Development: An Analysis of Young People's Online Discussions." *Journal of Youth Studies* (February 2024): 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1080/13676261.2024.2322607.
- Wilks, Leigh and Neil Harris. "Examining the Conflict and Interconnectedness of Young People's Ideas about Environmental Issues, Responsibility and Action." *Environmental Education Research* 22, no. 5 (2016): 683–96. https://doi.org/10.1080/13504622.2015.1054261.
- Wolf, Johanna and Susanne C. Moser. "Individual Understandings, Perceptions, and Engagement with Climate Change: Insights from In-depth Studies Across the World." *Wiley interdisciplinary reviews: Climate Change* 2, no. 4 (July/August 2011): 547-69. https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.120.
- Wong, Koon-Kwai. "The Environmental Awareness of University Students in Beijing, China." *Journal of Contemporary China* 12, no. 36 (2003): 519–36. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/10670560305472">https://doi.org/10.1080/10670560305472</a>.
- Yabancı, Bilge. "Work for the Nation, Obey the State, Praise the Ummah:

  Turkey's Government-oriented Youth Organizations in Cultivating a New Nation." *Ethnopolitics* 20, no. 4 (2021): 467-99.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/17449057.2019.1676536">https://doi.org/10.1080/17449057.2019.1676536</a>.
- Yildirim, A. Kadir. "Between Anti-westernism and Development: Political Islam

and Environmentalism." *Middle Eastern Studies* 52, no. 2 (March 2016): 215-32.

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/296694794\_Between\_Anti-Westernism\_and\_Development\_Political\_Islam\_and\_Environmentalism?e nrichId=rgreq-0807c1ea79bed6fcf7c884c336054510-XXX&enrichSource=Y292ZXJQYWdlOzI5NjY5NDc5NDtBUzo2MTgw Njc3MTc1NDU5ODRAMTUyNDM3MDIzNTQyOQ%3D%3D&el=1\_x 2& esc=publicationCoverPdf/.

- Yıldız, Tuğçe. "Revisiting the Role of Post-Materialist Values on Environmental Concern: An Analysis of Turkish Public Perception Over Climate Change Between the Years 2018-2020." *Journal of Applied and Theoretical Social Sciences* 4, no. 4 (December 2022): 373-89. <a href="https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4766-0060">https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4766-0060</a>.
- Yücel, Suzan. "Waarom Opvang in de Regio Tegen Z'n Grenzen aan Loopt (en de Turkijedeal Moet Worden Herzien)." *De Correspondent*, February 13, 2024. <a href="https://decorrespondent.nl/15097/waarom-opvang-in-de-regio-tegen-z-n-grenzen-aan-loopt-en-de-turkijedeal-moet-worden-herzien/394aa06b-d343-0aae-2267-550a8dfda6c1.</a>
- Zeng, Zhicheng, Wenjun Zhong, and Shumaila Naz. "Can Environmental Knowledge and Risk Perception Make a Difference? The Role of Environmental Concern and Pro-Environmental Behavior in Fostering Sustainable Consumption Behavior." *Sustainability* 15, no. 6 (March 2023): 1-23. https://doi.org/10.3390/su15064791.